
902-420-9287
450 Cowie Hill Road 

P.O. Box 8388 RPO CSC 
Halifax, Nova Scotia 

Canada B3K 5M1 

September 25, 2025 

The regular meeting of the Halifax Water Board will be held virtually on Thursday, September 25, 
2025, beginning at 9:00 a.m. Visit www.halifaxwater.ca to register to attend the public portion 
of the meeting.   

AGENDA 
In Camera Reports 

1C Approval of Minutes of the In-Camera Meeting held on Thursday, June 19, 2025  

Motion:  That the Halifax Water Board approve the In-Camera minutes of June 19. 

2C Business Arising from Minutes  

3C Security Matter - VERBAL

4C Communication Matter - VERBAL

5C  Committee Matter - VERBAL

6C  Communication Matter - VERBAL

Regular Reports 

1. a) Ratification of In-Camera motions 

Motion:  That the Halifax Water Board ratify the In-Camera Motions. 

b) Approval of the order of business and approval of additions and deletions 

Motion:  That the Halifax Water Board approve the order of business and approve 

additions and deletions. 

2. Approval of minutes of the Regular meeting held on Thursday, June 19, 2025 

Motion:  That the Halifax Water Board approve the minutes of the June 19, 2025, regular 

meeting. 

3. Business arising from minutes

a) Green Choice Program Enrollment Update - VERBAL

b) Boil Water Advisory: Update on Corrective Measures and NSRAB Audit- VERBAL

http://www.halifaxwater.ca/
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Financial Reports 

4.1 Operating Financial results as of July 31, 2025 

4.2 Capital expenditures as of July 31, 2025 

4.3 Capital Projects Spending Summary 2024/2025 

4.4 Fall 2025 Debenture (10 minutes)  

Motion:  That the Halifax Water Board approve: 

1. Approve the financing of $34,000,000 with a thirty-year amortization term and

financing over ten years. The maximum all-inclusive rate is not to exceed 7.0%.

2. Approve the re-financing of $15,403,516 with a ten-year amortization term and

financing over ten years, with an all-inclusive rate not to exceed 7.0%.

4.5 Change to the Financial Statements Approved at the Audit & Finance Committee 

Information Reports 

1-I Operational Performance Information Report

2-I Halifax Water Compliance Statement – Quarterly Certification

3-I Halifax Water Employees’ Pension Plan Financial Report – Quarterly Update

4-I 2024 Annual Report – Pension and Benefits Advisory Committee

Nicole Jollymore 

Administrative Coordinator 

Motion:  It is recommended that the Halifax Water Board approve the updated financial 
statements of the Halifax Regional Water Commission for the year ended March 31, 2025. 
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Our purpose is to supply and safeguard sustainable, high-quality water services.

TO: John MacPherson, Chair and Members of the Halifax Regional Water Commission 
Board

SUBMITTED BY:

Louis de Montbrun, CPA, CA Director, Corporate Services/CFO

APPROVED:

Kenda MacKenzie, P.Eng., General Manager & CEO

DATE: September 23, 2025

SUBJECT: Operating Results for the four (4) months ended July 31, 2025

ORIGIN

Financial information reporting.

RECOMMENDATION

It is recommended that the Halifax Water Board approve the operational financial report for the (4) months 
ended July 31, 2025.

DISCUSSION

Attached are the operating results for Halifax Water for the four (4) months year ended July 31, 2025, with 
comparative figures for July 31, 2024. 

The following discussion of the operating results reflects direct operating costs by department and 
allocations among water, wastewater and stormwater for common costs shared across all the services 
provided by Halifax Water. 
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Our purpose is to supply and safeguard sustainable, high-quality water services.

 

Statement of Financial Position (NSUARB)  Page 3 of Attachment 1 

Key indicators and balances from the Statement of Financial Position are provided in the following tables. 
 

Table 1: Assets 

  
Notes related to Table 1: 

A) Cash and cash equivalents increased by $57.5 million from the prior year. The increase is due to the 
proceeds from the Spring debenture and continuing growth of the Regional Development Charge 
(RDC) reserves. 
 

B) Customer charges and contractual increased by $0.8 million due to an increase in revenue related 
to consumption and base charges. 
 

C) Unbilled service revenues increased by $0.1 million due to the timing of billing cycles.  
 

D) Prepaids has decreased $0.8 million due to the timing of invoices received on prepaid services.
 

E) Utility plant in service increased by $138.8 million due to new assets recorded at the end of 
fiscal 2024-25, less depreciation. 
 

F) The $2.6 million increase in capital work in progress relates to the expenditures on active capital 
projects as of July 31, 2025. 
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Our purpose is to supply and safeguard sustainable, high-quality water services.

 

Table 2:  Liabilities and Equity 
 

Notes related to Table 2: 

A) Trade payables and accruals have increased by $4.4 million from the prior year due to a higher level 
of purchasing activity, higher average value per invoice, and more timely reporting of contractor 
holdbacks for future payments.  
 

 
B) Halifax Regional Municipality payable has increased by $15.1 million from prior year as a result of a 

decrease in receivables from HRM due to the timing of payment of the annual fire protection invoice, 
an increase in the RDC receivable, and an increase in cost sharing amounts payable to HRM.   
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Our purpose is to supply and safeguard sustainable, high-quality water services.

 

 
C) Current portion of long-term debt has decreased $7.0 million due to the repayment of HRM debt in 

September 2024 and balloon payments in November 2024 and May 2025. 
 

D) Increase in long term debt by $82.0 million due to the addition of new debt in November 2024 and May 
2025. 

Debt servicing ratio is a function of total interest and principal payments (including accrued amounts) plus 
the amortization of debt issue costs divided by total operating revenue per service. Debt servicing ratio by 
service as of July 31, 2025, is as follows: 

 
The combined debt servicing ratio has decreased from the prior year. Debt servicing ratios have increased
for water and stormwater because of the addition of new debt and decreased for wastewater because of the 
repayment of HRM debt in September 2024. The combined debt servicing ratio of 17.15% is below the 
maximum 35.00% ratio allowed under the blanket guarantee agreement with Halifax. 
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Our purpose is to supply and safeguard sustainable, high-quality water services.

 

Statement of Earnings (NSUARB)  Page 4 of Attachment 1 

Table 3: Summarized Statement of Earnings (NSUARB) 
 

Notes related to Table 3: 

A) The loss for the year of $8.6 million is an increase of $2.8 million from the prior year earnings. 
The following is a discussion of factors influencing the change. 

 
Table 4:  Operating Revenues: 

Notes related to Table 4: 

Operating revenues are presented above, broken down by type: 

A) Operating revenues have increased $0.9 million as compared to the previous year.  

B) Metered consumption revenue has increased 1.6% as compared to the previous year.
Consumption billed within the period was up 4.2%, however meter readings indicate growth in 
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Our purpose is to supply and safeguard sustainable, high-quality water services.

 

consumption is easing. Metered consumption revenue includes billed and unbilled consumption
and as such reflects the more modest consumption growth. Consumption growth is highest in 
institutional, multi-residential and commercial classes.  

 

Consumption Growth Based on Billed Consumption is as follows: 

 

C) Base charge revenue has increased by $2.7 million due to increased customers. Since the same 
time last year, the number of customers has grown by 560.  

 

Table 5: Operating expenditures: 

Notes related to Table 5: 

A) Operating expenditures of $54.7 million are $4.4 million higher than the prior year. 
 

B) Water supply and treatment expenditures decreased $0.2 million from prior year due to a 
decrease in chemicals including alum, phosphate and caustic soda. 
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Our purpose is to supply and safeguard sustainable, high-quality water services.

 

C) Water transmission and distribution expenditures increased $1.1 million from prior year due to 
an increase in contract services and salaries/wages. Increased costs are primarily in core 
maintenance activities for distribution mains, hydrants, and services. 

 
D) Wastewater treatment expenditures increased $0.8 million from prior year due mainly to 

increases in salaries, contract services and supplies.  
 

E) Information and technology services is now presented as a separate expenditure category due to 
the recent organizational changes. Expenditures decreased $0.3 million as compared to the prior 
year. Increases in salaries are offset by a decrease in consulting. 

 
F) Engineering services expenditures increased $0.5 million from prior year due to an increase in 

salaries and consulting. 
 

G) Regulatory services expenditures increased $0.5 million from the prior year due to an increase 
in salaries. 
 

H) Administration services expenditures increased $0.5 million from the prior year. A decrease in 
contract services is offset by an increase in salaries.  

 
I) Depreciation and amortization increased $1.4 million over prior year because of depreciation 

on additions to assets in the prior year.   
 
 
Table 6:  Financial and other revenues: 

Notes related to Table 6: 

A) Financial and other revenues decreased from prior year due to lower interest rates resulting 
in less revenue earned on cash balances for regulated services. Interest income is also allocated 
to regional development charge reserve funds.  
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Our purpose is to supply and safeguard sustainable, high-quality water services.

 

 
Table 7: Financial and other expenditures:  

 

Notes related to Table 7: 

A) Financial and other expenditures decreased $0.7 million when compared to prior year due to a
decrease in debt repayment amounts. These will increase during the year as the repayments 
associated with new debt are recorded. 

 
 
 
 
Table 8:  Operating Results by Service: 

 
The results in Table 8 are explained in more detail in Tables 9 to 11. 
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Our purpose is to supply and safeguard sustainable, high-quality water services.

 

Table 9:  Operating Results by Service  Water: 

Water services loss of $6.9 million increased from the prior year loss by $2.3 million due to the following 
factors: 

A) Increase in operating revenues of $0.2 million due to an increase in consumption and base 
charge revenue as previously discussed under Notes to Table 4. 
 

B) Increase in operating expenditures of $1.6 million due to higher costs in water transmission and 
distribution, and depreciation and amortization. 

 
C) Increase in financial and other expenditures of $0.9 million due to higher interest rates on new 

long-term debt as compared to existing debt, and a higher dividend/grant in lieu of taxes.
  



ITEM # 4.1
  Halifax Water Board

September 25, 2025
 

 

 

Page 10 of 11 

Our purpose is to supply and safeguard sustainable, high-quality water services.

 

Table 10:  Operating Results by Service  Wastewater: 

Wastewater services loss of $0.2 million has decreased from $0.4 million in prior year due to the following 
factors: 

A) Operating revenues increase of $0.8 million is attributable to an increase in consumption and 
base charge revenue as previously discussed under Notes to Table 4. 
 

B) Operating expenditures increase of $2.2 million is attributable primarily to increases in costs 
associated with wastewater treatment, engineering services, administration services, and 
depreciation and amortization. 
 

C) Financial and other expenditures decrease of $1.6 million is due to lower repayment of long-
term debt following the final payment on a large debt issue payable to HRM to finance 
wastewater assets. Repayments will be higher in future months with the new debt issued with 
the Spring and Fall debentures. 

 
Table 11:  Operating Results by Service  Stormwater: 
 

Stormwater services loss of $1.5 million is $0.6 million greater than the prior year loss. The following 
factors influenced the results: 

A) Operating revenues decreased by less than $0.1 million from the prior year due to the timing 
of bills issued and estimates of accrued revenue balances. Billable impervious area is expected 
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Our purpose is to supply and safeguard sustainable, high-quality water services.

 

 

Report prepared by:  

 Warren Brake, CPA, CGA 
 Manager of Accounting (902) 719-4814 

to continue to gradually increase in conjunction with continuing growth in development 
activity. 
 

B) Increase of $0.5 million in operating expenditures from prior year is due to an increase in the 
allocation of engineering services and regulatory services to Stormwater.  
 

C) Increase of $0.1 million in financial and other expenditures is due to increasing interest on 
long-term debt.     
 

Results under NSUARB Handbook as compared to International Financial Reporting 
Standards 

As a rate regulated utility, the Accounting Standards Board (AcSB) requires Halifax Water to report 
financial results using IFRS. The NSUARB requires Halifax Water to report in accordance with the 
NSUARB Handbook. The differences between IFRS and the NSUARB Handbook include non-cash 
pension expense, principal payments of long term debt, depreciation expense on contributed assets, various 
depreciation adjustments and other comprehensive income gain. 

 
ATTACHMENT 

1.  Financial results for the four (4) months ended July 31, 2025.  
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HALIFAX WATER

UNAUDITED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION - IFRS
JULY 31, 2025 (in thousands)

March 31
July 31 (in thousands) 2025 2024 2025 $ Change % Change

Assets
Current

Cash and cash equivalents 97,183$                39,722$                 73,126$                57,461$                   144.7% 
Receivables

Customer charges and contractual 20,482 19,711 21,851 771  3.9% 
Unbilled service revenues 21,275 21,108 22,019 167  0.8% 

Inventory 2,527 2,589 2,530 (62) (2.4%)
Prepaids 1,554 2,349 2,178 (795) (33.8%)

143,021 85,479 121,704 57,542  67.3% 

Employee benefit surplus (obligations) 1,003 (3,110) 1,053 4,113 (132.2%)
Intangible assets 42,855 34,622 42,855 8,234  23.8% 
Capital work in progress 142,343 139,727 115,627 2,616  1.9% 
Utility plant in service 1,322,160 1,268,145 1,345,901 54,015  4.3% 
Total assets 1,651,383 1,524,863 1,627,140 126,520  8.3% 

Regulatory deferral account 1,789 1,981 1,852 (192) (9.7%)
Total assets and regulatory deferral account 1,653,172$           1,526,844$            1,628,992$           126,328$                 8.3% 

Liabilities
Current

Payables and accruals
Trade 24,190 19,757 35,898 4,432  22.4% 
Non-trade 7,266 5,547 6,430 1,719  31.0% 
Interest on long term debt 2,704 1,942 4,061 762  39.3% 
Halifax Regional Municipality 254 (14,882) 4,459 15,137  101.7% 

Contractor and customer deposits 1,409 1,221 1,447 189  15.4% 

Current portion of deferred contributed capital 19,249 19,260 19,249 (11) (0.1%)
Current portion of long term debt 32,881 39,832 32,881 (6,951) (17.5%)
Unearned revenue 10,230 9,967 442 263  2.6% 

98,183 82,644 104,865 15,539  18.8% 

Deferred contributed capital 961,201 930,784 951,883 30,417  3.3% 
Long term debt 286,947 204,946 260,129 82,001  40.0% 
Total liabilities 1,346,331 1,218,374 1,316,877 127,957  10.5% 

Equity
Accumulated other comprehensive loss 66,922 60,395 66,923 6,527  10.8% 
Accumulated surplus 239,918 248,074 245,192 (8,156) (3.3%)
Total equity 306,841 308,470 312,115 (1,629) (0.5%)
Total liabilities and equity 1,653,172$           1,526,844$            1,628,992$           126,328$                 8.3% 

From Prior Year
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APR 1/25 ACTUAL 
MAR 31/26 YEAR TO DATE

THIS YEAR LAST YEAR BUDGET  as % of
'000 '000 '000 BUDGET $ Change % Change $ Remaining % Remaining

  Operating revenues
    Water 18,411$         18,178$       56,210$        32.75% 233$         1.28% (37,799)$        (67.25%)

     Wastewater 30,784 30,044 90,770  33.91% 740  2.46% (59,986) (66.09%)
     Stormwater 4,940 4,916 15,380  32.12% 24  0.48% (10,440) (67.88%)
     Public fire protection 2,694 2,694 8,083  33.33% 0  0.00% (5,389) (66.67%)
     Private fire protection 608 572 1,711  35.54% 36  6.26% (1,103) (64.46%)
     Other operating revenue 995 1,098 2,463  40.41% (102) (9.33%) (1,468) (59.59%)

58,432 57,502 174,617  33.46% 930  1.62% (116,185) (66.54%)
  Operating expenditures
     Water supply and treatment 4,617 4,795 16,146  28.60% (178) (3.71%) (11,529) (71.40%)
     Water transmission and distribution 5,641 4,510 16,910  33.36% 1,131  25.08% (11,269) (66.64%)
     Wastewater collection 4,634 4,736 15,530  29.84% (102) (2.14%) (10,896) (70.16%)
     Stormwater collection 1,935 2,102 6,969  27.77% (167) (7.94%) (5,034) (72.23%)
     Wastewater treatment 8,688 7,846 28,640  30.34% 843  10.74% (19,952) (69.66%)
     Information and technology services 5,789 6,124 16,625  34.82% (335) (5.47%) (10,836) (65.18%)
     Engineering services 1,872 1,385 5,813  32.21% 488  35.23% (3,941) (67.79%)
     Regulatory compliance services 2,083 1,616 5,359  38.86% 467  28.91% (3,276) (61.14%)
     Customer services 1,617 1,435 5,186  31.19% 182  12.72% (3,569) (68.81%)
     Corporate services 1,305 1,185 4,255  30.67% 121  10.17% (2,950) (69.33%)
     Administration services 2,371 1,847 7,647  31.01% 524  28.38% (5,276) (68.99%)
     Pension services 0 956 3,154  0.00% (956) (100.00%) (3,154) (100.00%)
     Depreciation and amortization 20,376 9,174 59,184  34.43% 11,201  122.10% (38,808) (65.57%)

60,930 47,710 191,418  31.83% 13,221  27.71% (130,488) (68.17%)

Earnings (loss) from operations before financial
  and other revenues and expenditures (2,498) 9,792 (16,801)  14.87% (12,290) (125.51%) 14,303 (85.13%)

  Financial and other revenues
     Interest 46 110 468  9.83% (64) (58.29%) (422) (90.17%)
     Amortization of contributed capital 3,078 14,816 19,260  15.98% (11,738) (79.23%) (16,182) (84.02%)
     Other 168 177 617  27.27% (9) (5.10%) (449) (72.73%)

3,292 15,103 20,345  16.18% (11,811) (78.20%) (17,053) (83.82%)
.
  Financial and other expenditures
     Interest 58 76 323  18.03% (18) (23.51%) (265) (81.97%)
     Interest on long term debt 3,426 2,811 12,291  27.87% 615  21.87% (8,865) (72.13%)
     Amortization of debt discount 96 79 279  34.43% 17  21.46% (183) (65.57%)
     Dividend/grant in lieu of taxes 2,412 2,307 7,236  33.33% 105  4.55% (4,824) (66.67%)
     Other 75 47 130  57.53% 28  59.91% (55) (42.47%)

6,067 5,320 20,259  29.95% 747  14.04% (14,192) (70.05%)

   Total comprehensive earnings for the year (5,273)$          19,575$       (16,715)$       31.55% (24,848)$  (126.94%) 11,442$         (68.45%)

From Prior Year
YEAR TO DATE

Actual to Budget

HALIFAX WATER
UNAUDITED STATEMENT OF EARNINGS AND COMPREHENSIVE EARNINGS - ALL SERVICES - IFRS

APRIL 1, 2025 - JULY 31, 2025 (4 MONTHS)
ACTUAL YEAR TO DATE COMPLETE: 33.33%

ACTUAL



Page 3 of 9
HALIFAX WATER

UNAUDITED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION - NSRAB
JULY 31, 2025 (in thousands)

March 31
July 31 (in thousands) 2025 2024 2025 $ Change % Change

Assets
Current

Cash and cash equivalents 97,183$           39,722$           73,126$         57,461$     144.7% 
Receivables

Customer charges and contractual 20,482 19,711 21,851 771  3.9% 
Unbilled service revenues 21,275 21,108 22,019 167  0.8% 

Inventory 2,527 2,589 2,530 (62) (2.4%)
Prepaids 1,554 2,349 2,178 (795) (33.8%)

143,021 85,479 121,704 57,542  67.3% 

Utility plant in service 1,416,094 1,277,268 1,436,849 138,826  10.9% 
Capital work in progress 142,343 139,727 115,627 2,616  1.9% 
Total assets 1,701,458 1,502,474 1,674,180 198,984  13.2% 

Regulatory deferral account 1,789 1,981 1,852 (192) (9.7%)
Total assets and regulatory deferral account 1,703,247$      1,504,455$      1,676,032$    198,792$   13.2% 

Liabilities
Current

Payables and accruals
Trade 24,190 19,757 35,900 4,432  22.4% 
Non-trade 7,266 5,547 6,430 1,719  31.0% 
Interest on long term debt 2,704 1,942 4,061 762  39.3% 
Halifax Regional Municipality 254 (14,882) 4,459 15,137 (101.7%)

Contractor and customer deposits 1,409 1,221 1,447 189  15.4% 
Current portion of long term debt 32,881 39,832 32,881 (6,951) (17.5%)
Unearned revenue 10,230 9,967 442 263  2.6% 

78,934 63,384 85,619 15,550  24.5% 

Long term debt 286,947 204,946 260,129 82,001  40.0% 
Deferred contributions 144,874 109,026 130,596 35,848  32.9% 
Total liabilities 510,755 377,356 476,344 133,399  35.4% 

Equity
Accumulated capital surplus 1,192,725 1,108,845 1,191,266 83,880  7.6% 
Accumulated operating surplus (3,958) 11,690 11,690 (15,648) (133.9%)
Operating surplus used to fund capital 12,380 12,380 12,380 0  0.0% 
Deficiency of revenues over expenditures (8,655) (5,817) (15,648) (2,838)  48.8% 
Total equity 1,192,492 1,127,099 1,199,688 65,393  5.8% 
Total liabilities and equity 1,703,247$      1,504,455$      1,676,032$    198,792$   13.2% 

From Prior Year
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APR 1/25 ACTUAL 
MAR 31/26 YEAR TO DATE

THIS YEAR LAST YEAR BUDGET  as % of
'000 '000 '000 BUDGET $ Change % Change $ Remaining % Remaining

  Operating revenues - Water
    Water 18,411$             18,178$            56,210$              32.75% 233$                   1.28% (37,799)$            (67.25%)

     Public fire protection 2,694 2,694 8,083  33.33% 0  0.00% (5,389) (66.67%)
     Private fire protection 608 572 1,711  35.54% 36  6.26% (1,103) (64.46%)
     Bulk water stations 73 83 340  21.48% (10) (11.79%) (267) (78.52%)
     Late payment and other connection fees 58 61 202  28.87% (2) (3.70%) (144) (71.13%)
     Miscellaneous 98 147 234  41.73% (50) (33.75%) (136) (58.27%)

21,942 21,735 66,780  32.86% 207  0.95% (44,838) (67.14%)
  Operating expenditures - Water
     Water supply and treatment 4,617 4,795 16,146  28.60% (178) (3.71%) (11,529) (71.40%)
     Water transmission and distribution 5,641 4,510 16,910  33.36% 1,131  25.08% (11,269) (66.64%)
     Information and technology services 2,707 2,976 8,150  33.22% (269) (9.03%) (5,443) (66.78%)
     Engineering services 211 219 2,017  10.46% (8) (3.76%) (1,806) (89.54%)
     Regulatory compliance services 620 576 1,576  39.35% 44  7.67% (956) (60.65%)
     Customer services 825 732 2,645  31.18% 93  12.72% (1,820) (68.82%)
     Corporate services 666 604 2,086  31.91% 61  10.17% (1,420) (68.09%)
     Administration services 1,174 942 3,900  30.11% 232  24.64% (2,726) (69.89%)
     Depreciation and amortization 6,147 5,635 15,127  40.64% 513  9.10% (8,979) (59.36%)

22,609 20,989 68,557  32.98% 1,620  7.72% (45,948) (67.02%)
  Earnings from operations before financial
  and other revenues and expenditures (666) 746 (1,776)  37.51% (1,412) (189.31%) 1,110 (62.49%)

  Financial and other revenues
     Interest 22 70 295  7.54% (47) (68.01%) (273) (92.46%)
     Other 137 145 477  28.71% (8) (5.70%) (340) (71.29%)

159 215 772  20.61% (56) (25.90%) (613) (79.39%)

  Financial and other expenditures
     Interest on long term debt 1,722 1,275 5,484  31.40% 447  35.06% (3,762) (68.60%)
     Repayment on long term debt 2,559 2,219 8,303  30.83% 341  15.36% (5,743) (69.17%)
     Amortization of debt discount 41 32 119  34.71% 10  29.95% (78) (65.29%)
     Dividend/grant in lieu of taxes 2,053 1,973 6,158  33.33% 79  4.02% (4,105) (66.67%)
     Other 40 43 115  34.41% (4) (8.82%) (76) (65.59%)

6,415 5,542 20,179  31.79% 873  15.75% (13,764) (68.21%)

  Loss for the year (6,922)$              (4,581)$             (21,183)$             32.68% (2,341)$               51.10% 14,261$             (67.32%)

From Prior Year

UNAUDITED STATEMENT OF EARNINGS - WATER - NSRAB

Actual to Budget

HALIFAX WATER

APRIL 1, 2025 - JULY 31, 2025 (4 MONTHS)
ACTUAL YEAR TO DATE COMPLETE: 33.33%

ACTUAL
YEAR TO DATE
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ACTUAL APR 1/25 ACTUAL 
YEAR TO DATE MAR 31/26 YEAR TO DATE

THIS YEAR LAST YEAR BUDGET  as % of
'000 '000 '000 BUDGET $ Change % Change $ Remaining % Remaining

  Operating revenues - Wastewater
     Wastewater 30,784$              30,044$             90,770$               33.91% 740$                    2.46% (59,986)$             (66.09%)
     Leachate and other contract revenue 130 179 323  40.29% (49) (27.26%) (193) (59.71%)
     Septage tipping fees 283 250 572  49.42% 33  13.04% (289) (50.58%)
     Overstrength surcharge 34 65 0  0.00% (31) (47.99%) 34  0.00% 
     Airplane effluent 78 12 105  74.19% 66  575.29% (27) (25.81%)
     Late payment and other connection fees 99 100 207  47.76% (1) (1.32%) (108) (52.24%)
     Miscellaneous 74 61 233  31.85% 13  20.75% (159) (68.15%)

31,482 30,711 92,210  34.14% 770  2.51% (60,728) (65.86%)
  Operating expenditures - Wastewater
     Wastewater collection 4,634 4,736 15,530  29.84% (102) (2.14%) (10,896) (70.16%)
     Wastewater treatment 8,688 7,846 28,640  30.34% 843  10.74% (19,952) (69.66%)
     Information and technology services 2,773 2,833 7,797  35.57% (59) (2.10%) (5,024) (64.43%)
     Engineering services 981 733 2,823  34.75% 248  33.77% (1,842) (65.25%)
     Regulatory compliance services 677 588 1,763  38.43% 90  15.30% (1,086) (61.57%)
     Customer services 727 643 2,338  31.11% 84  13.12% (1,611) (68.89%)
     Corporate services 576 522 1,996  28.83% 53  10.17% (1,420) (71.17%)
     Administration services 1,070 815 3,372  31.73% 255  31.35% (2,302) (68.27%)
     Depreciation and amortization 6,827 5,989 20,850  32.74% 838  14.00% (14,023) (67.26%)

26,954 24,704 85,109  31.67% 2,250  9.11% (58,155) (68.33%)
  Earnings from operations before financial
  and other revenues and expenditures 4,527 6,007 7,101  63.75% (1,480) (24.63%) (2,574) (36.25%)

  Financial and other revenues
     Interest 24 41 172  13.76% (17) (41.62%) (149) (86.24%)
     Other 31 32 140  22.36% (1) (2.40%) (109) (77.64%)

55 73 313  17.62% (18) (24.30%) (257) (82.38%)

  Financial and other expenditures
     Interest on long term debt 1,268 1,262 5,287  23.98% 5  0.42% (4,019) (76.02%)
     Repayment on long term debt 3,178 4,871 9,942  31.97% (1,693) (34.76%) (6,764) (68.03%)
     Amortization of debt discount 44 38 126  34.72% 5  13.24% (82) (65.28%)
     Dividend/grant in lieu of taxes 299 277 898  33.33% 23  8.25% (599) (66.67%)
     Other 35 3 15  235.14% 32  948.41% 20  135.14% 

4,824 6,452 16,267  29.65% (1,628) (25.24%) (11,444) (70.35%)

  Earnings (loss) for the year (241)$                  (372)$                 (8,853)$                2.73% 131$                   (35.15%) 8,612$                (97.27%)

UNAUDITED STATEMENT OF EARNINGS - WASTEWATER - NSRAB
HALIFAX WATER

APRIL 1, 2025 - JULY 31, 2025 (4 MONTHS)
ACTUAL YEAR TO DATE COMPLETE: 33.33%

From Prior Year Actual to Budget
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APR 1/25 ACTUAL 
MAR 31/26 YEAR TO DATE

THIS YEAR LAST YEAR BUDGET  as % of
'000 '000 '000 BUDGET $ Change % Change $ Remaining % Remaining

  Operating revenues - Stormwater
    Stormwater site generated service 2,768$               2,744$              8,865$                31.22% 24$                     0.86% (6,097)$              (68.78%)

     Stormwater right of way service 2,172 2,172 6,515  33.34% 0  0.00% (4,343) (66.66%)
     Late payment and other connection fees 54 43 180  29.79% 11  24.52% (126) (70.21%)
     Miscellaneous 15 97 67  22.40% (81) (84.45%) (52) (77.60%)

5,008 5,056 15,627  32.05% (47) (0.94%) (10,619) (67.95%)
  Operating expenditures - Stormwater
     Stormwater collection 1,935 2,102 6,969  27.77% (167) (7.94%) (5,034) (72.23%)
     Information and technology services 308 315 678  45.45% (7) (2.10%) (370) (54.55%)
     Engineering services 681 432 973  69.95% 248  57.50% (292) (30.05%)
     Regulatory compliance services 785 452 2,020  38.87% 333  73.64% (1,235) (61.13%)
     Customer services 65 60 203  32.14% 5  8.39% (138) (67.86%)
     Corporate services 64 58 173  36.96% 6  10.17% (109) (63.04%)
     Administration services 127 91 375  33.91% 37  40.51% (248) (66.09%)
     Depreciation and amortization 1,205 1,173 3,948  30.51% 31  2.65% (2,743) (69.49%)

5,170 4,683 15,339  33.71% 487  10.39% (10,168) (66.29%)
  Earnings from operations before financial
  and other revenues and expenditures (162) 372 288 (56.07%) (534) (143.44%) (450) (156.07%)

  Financial and other expenditures
     Interest 58 76 323  18.03% (18) (23.51%) (265) (81.97%)
     Interest on long term debt 436 274 1,520  28.71% 162  59.23% (1,084) (71.29%)
     Repayment on long term debt 764 820 2,269  33.67% (56) (6.79%) (1,505) (66.33%)
     Amortization of debt discount 11 9 34  32.44% 2  26.73% (23) (67.56%)
     Dividend/grant in lieu of taxes 60 57 180  33.33% 3  4.97% (120) (66.67%)

1,330 1,236 4,327  30.74% 94  7.61% (2,997) (69.26%)

Earnings (loss) for the year (1,492)$              (863)$                (4,038)$               36.94% (628)$                  72.75% 2,547$               (63.06%)

From Prior Year
YEAR TO DATE

HALIFAX WATER
UNAUDITED STATEMENT OF EARNINGS - STORMWATER - NSRAB

APRIL 1, 2025 - JULY 31, 2025 (4 MONTHS)
ACTUAL YEAR TO DATE COMPLETE: 33.33%

ACTUAL

Actual to Budget
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ACTUAL APR 1/25 ACTUAL
YEAR TO DATE MAR 31/26 YEAR TO DATE

THIS YEAR LAST YEAR BUDGET as % of
'000 '000 '000 BUDGET $ Change % Change $ Remaining % Remaining

REGULATED ACTIVITIES

  Operating revenues
    Water 18,411$             18,178$            56,210$              32.75% 233$                   1.28% (37,799)$            (67.25%)

     Wastewater 30,784 30,044 90,770  33.91% 740  2.46% (59,986) (66.09%)
     Stormwater 4,940 4,916 15,380  32.12% 24  0.48% (10,440) (67.88%)
     Public fire protection 2,694 2,694 8,083  33.33% 0  0.00% (5,389) (66.67%)
     Private fire protection 608 572 1,711  35.54% 36  6.26% (1,103) (64.46%)
     Miscellaneous 505 657 1,463  34.49% (153) (23.22%) (958) (65.51%)

57,941 57,061 173,617  33.37% 880  1.54% (115,676) (66.63%)
  Operating expenditures
     Water supply and treatment 4,617 4,794 16,146  28.60% (177) (3.69%) (11,529) (71.40%)
     Water transmission and distribution 5,641 4,510 16,910  33.36% 1,131  25.08% (11,269) (66.64%)
     Wastewater collection 4,617 4,719 15,468  29.85% (102) (2.16%) (10,851) (70.15%)
     Stormwater collection 1,935 2,102 6,969  27.77% (167) (7.94%) (5,034) (72.23%)
     Wastewater treatment 8,437 7,614 27,725  30.43% 824  10.82% (19,288) (69.57%)
     Information and technology services 5,789 6,124 16,625  34.82% (335) (5.47%) (10,836) (65.18%)
     Engineering services 1,872 1,385 5,813  32.21% 488  35.23% (3,941) (67.79%)
     Regulatory compliance services 2,083 1,616 5,359  38.86% 467  28.91% (3,276) (61.14%)
     Customer services 1,602 1,420 5,146  31.12% 181  12.78% (3,544) (68.88%)
     Corporate services 1,299 1,179 4,242  30.63% 121  10.22% (2,943) (69.37%)
     Administration services 2,333 1,810 7,510  31.07% 523  28.91% (5,177) (68.93%)
     Depreciation and amortization 14,159 12,790 39,887  35.50% 1,369  10.70% (25,728) (64.50%)

54,385 50,062 167,800  32.41% 4,324  8.64% (113,414) (67.59%)
  Earnings from operations before financial
  and other revenues and expenditures 3,556 7,000 5,817  61.13% (3,443) (49.19%) (2,261) (38.87%)

  Financial and other revenues
     Interest 46 110 468  9.83% (64) (58.29%) (422) (90.17%)
     Other 5 5 17  30.48% 0  9.83% (12) (69.52%)

51 115 485  10.57% (64) (55.46%) (434) (89.43%)
  Financial and other expenditures
     Interest 58 76 323  18.03% (18) (23.51%) (265) (81.97%)
     Interest on long term debt 3,426 2,811 12,291  27.87% 615  21.87% (8,865) (72.13%)
     Repayment on long term debt 6,502 7,910 20,514  31.69% (1,408) (17.80%) (14,012) (68.31%)
     Amortization of debt discount 96 79 279  34.43% 17  21.46% (183) (65.57%)
     Dividend/grant in lieu of taxes 2,412 2,307 7,236  33.33% 105  4.55% (4,824) (66.67%)

12,494 13,183 40,643  30.74% (689) (5.23%) (28,149) (69.26%)

Earnings (loss) for the year - Regulated (8,887)$              (6,069)$             (34,340)$             25.88% (2,818)$               46.44% 25,454$             (74.12%)

HALIFAX WATER
UNAUDITED STATEMENT OF EARNINGS - REGULATED AND UNREGULATED ACTIVITIES - NSRAB

APRIL 1, 2025 - JULY 31, 2025 (4 MONTHS)
ACTUAL YEAR TO DATE COMPLETE: 33.33%

From Prior Year Actual to Budget
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ACTUAL APR 1/25 ACTUAL
YEAR TO DATE MAR 31/26 YEAR TO DATE

THIS YEAR LAST YEAR BUDGET as % of
'000 '000 '000 BUDGET $ Change % Change 33 % Remaining

UNREGULATED ACTIVITIES

  Operating revenues
     Septage tipping fees 283$                  250$                 572$                   49.42% 33$                     13.04% (289)$                 (50.58%)
     Leachate and other contract revenue 130 179 323  40.29% (49) (27.26%) (193) (59.71%)
     Airplane effluent 78 12 105  74.19% 66  575.29% (27) (25.81%)

491 441 1,000  49.07% 50  11.39% (509) (50.93%)
  Operating expenditures
     Water supply and treatment (0) 1 0  0.00% (1) (137.76%) (0)  0.00% 
     Wastewater treatment 251 232 915  27.48% 19  8.18% (663) (72.52%)
     Wastewater collection 17 17 62  27.96% 0  2.57% (45) (72.04%)
     Sponsorships and donations 17 15 80  20.82% 2  12.83% (63) (79.18%)
     Corporate services 6 6 13  45.47% 0  0.00% (7) (54.53%)
     Administration services 37 37 97  38.26% 0  0.00% (60) (61.74%)
     Depreciation and amortization 19 7 37  52.19% 13  188.65% (18) (47.81%)

348 314 1,204  28.86% 33  10.51% (856) (71.14%)
  Earnings from operations before financial
  and other revenues and expenditures 143 126 (204) (70.21%) 17  13.60% 347 (170.21%)

  Financial and other revenues
     Other - leases and rentals 98 100 365  26.96% (2) (1.73%) (267) (73.04%)
     Other - energy projects 65 72 235  27.51% (8) (10.76%) (170) (72.49%)

163 173 600  27.18% (10) (5.52%) (437) (72.82%)
  Financial and other expenditures
     Other 75 47 130  57.53% 28  59.91% (55) (42.47%)

75 47 130  57.53% 28  59.91% (55) (42.47%)

  Earnings for the year - Unregulated 231$                  252$                 266$                   87.07% (20)$                   (8.12%) (34)$                   (12.93%)

  Total earnings (loss) for the year
  (Regulated and Unregulated) (8,655)$              (5,817)$             (34,075)$             25.40% (2,838)$               48.80% 25,420$             (74.60%)

HALIFAX WATER
UNAUDITED STATEMENT OF EARNINGS - REGULATED AND UNREGULATED ACTIVITIES - NSRAB

APRIL 1, 2025 - JULY 31, 2025 (4 MONTHS)

ACTUAL YEAR TO DATE COMPLETE: 33.33%

From Prior Year Actual to Budget
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TO: John MacPherson, Chair and Members of the Halifax Regional Water 
Commission Board

SUBMITTED BY:
Louis de Montbrun, CPA, CA Director, Corporate Services/CFO

APPROVED:

Kenda MacKenzie, P.Eng., General Manager and CEO

DATE: September 9, 2025

SUBJECT: Capital Expenditures as of July 31, 2025

ORIGIN

The Corporate Balanced Scorecard (CBS) identifies the percentage of current of total unspent 
budget available, spent in the current fiscal year as a critical success factor and sets a target of 
45%.  There is an additional CBS target of $135 million in capital spend during the year.  

BACKGROUND

At the September 4, 2025, meeting of the Halifax Water Audit and Finance Committee (the 
Committee), the attached report, Item #8, Capital Expenditures as of July 31, 2025, was 
presented, reviewed, and discussed. 

DISCUSSION

No additional information was requested to be brought forward to the Halifax Water Board 
meeting following the discussion of the attached at the Committee meeting.  The Committee 
passed the motion to approve the Capital Expenditures as of July 31, 2025.

ATTACHMENT

1. Report to the Halifax Water Audit and Finance Committee Item #8, Capital Expenditures 
as of July 31, 2025.



ITEM #8
Halifax Water Audit and Finance Committee

September 4, 2025

Page 1 of 3

TO: Chair and Members of the Halifax Regional Water Commission Audit and 
Finance Committee

SUBMITTED BY:
Louis de Montbrun, CPA, CA
Director, Corporate Services/CFO

________________________________________________
Josh DeYoung, P.Eng.
Director, Engineering & Capital Infrastructure

APPROVED:

Kenda MacKenzie, P.Eng.
General Manager/CEO

DATE: September 4, 2025

SUBJECT: Capital Expenditures for the fiscal year to July 31, 2025

ORIGIN

The Corporate Balanced Scorecard (CBS) identifies the percentage of total unspent budget 
available, spent in the current fiscal year as a critical success factor and sets a target of 45%. 
There is an additional CBS target of $135 million in capital spend during the year.

RECOMMENDATION

It is recommended that the Audit and Finance Committee forward the Capital Expenditures for 
the fiscal year to July 31, 2025, to the Halifax Water Board for their information. 
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BACKGROUND

The Halifax Regional Water Commission (Halifax Water) Board reviews financial information 
throughout the year.  Halifax Water’s 2019 Integrated Resource Plan (IRP) identifies a 30-year 
capital investment plan valued at $2.7 Billion (net present value - 2019). In relation to the IRP,
the capital budget program focuses on providing required infrastructure for asset renewal,
regulatory compliance, and growth. The IRP calls for delivery of an average of $135 million in capital 
projects per year.   Halifax Water’s annual capital budget, and capability to deliver capital projects, has 
not yet reached this level.    

DISCUSSION

Below is the breakdown by asset class and project status of the expenditures for the fiscal year
to July 31, 2025. The total budget available of $368.2 million represents total approved budgets 
as at July 31, 2025.  Halifax Water has spent $107.9 million on active projects. 

The total capital budget remaining to be spent at July 31, 2025 is $233.5 million.
 
Total expenditures as a percentage of the total budget available is 36.6%. Expenditures in the 
current fiscal year as a percentage of the current year capital budget is 20.1%.  
 
The average capital spend per month compared to the same timeframe in the prior year has 
increased from $6.2 million to $6.7 million.   
 
Capital Expenditure Report 
 

The achievement of annual targets for the current fiscal year will be significantly impacted by the 
timing of several major projects. The NSRAB has granted approval for the Burnside Operations 
Centre, enabling the project team to commence construction in the spring of 2025. The 
procurement process for the Biosolids Processing Facility continues. The Fairview Cove Trunk 
Sewer is anticipated to be tendered in 2025, contingent upon the finalization of land agreements 
with the relevant parties. 
 

Category
Total Budget 

Available
Expenditures to 
March 31, 2025

Expenditures 
April 1, 2025 to 
July 31, 2025

Total 
Expenditures to 

July 31, 2025

Remaining 
Budget Available 

as of July 31, 2025

Total Expenditures 
to July 31, 2025 as 

a Percentage of 
Total Budget 

Available

Water  $      84,774,564  $       15,765,596  $          4,853,167  $               20,618,764  $         64,155,801 24.3%
Wastewater        112,365,052           30,082,111            11,531,651                   41,613,761             70,751,290 37.0%
Stormwater          34,170,988             6,088,229              2,677,550                     8,765,779             25,405,210 25.7%
Corporate        135,869,177           56,009,997              7,653,569                   63,663,567             72,205,610 46.9%
District Energy            1,030,000                          -                             -                                    -                 1,030,000 0.0%

 $    368,209,782  $     107,945,933  $        26,715,937  $             134,661,870  $       233,547,911 36.6%
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Significant projects including the Integrated Resource Plan Update, Sullivan’s Pond Stormwater
Phase 2 Parts 1 and 2, Phase 1 of Port Wallace Watermain, the wastewater trenchless program
are all underway. The timing of these projects in achieving their respective milestones will have 
a substantial impact on capital expenditures for the current fiscal year. It is also common to have 
projects see increases in capital recorded in the final months of the year as work is completed 
and project documentation is received, especially on HRM integrated works. 
 
 
 

 

Report prepared by:   

  Warren Brake, Manager of Accounting, (902) 719-4814
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TO: John MacPherson, Chair and Members of the Halifax Regional Water 
Commission Board

SUBMITTED BY:
Louis de Montbrun, CPA, CA Director, Corporate Services/CFO

APPROVED:

Kenda MacKenzie, P.Eng., General Manager & CEO

DATE: September 23, 2025

SUBJECT: Capital Project Spending Summary 2024/25

ORIGIN

Nova Scotia Regulatory and Appeals Board (NSRAB) requirement for reconciliation of Capital Budget 
expenditures.

BACKGROUND

The Halifax Water Board approves an annual Capital Budget for capital projects.  The specific funding for 
individual projects is further approved by the General Manager, Halifax Water Board, and the NSRAB as 
required based on total project cost, as per the Capital Funding Approval Policy.

RECOMMENDATION

It is recommended the Halifax Water Board approve for filing with the NSRAB the capital project spending 
summary for the period April 1, 2024, to March 31, 2025, and the capital project spending over $1,000,000 
summary for the period April 1, 2024, and March 31, 2025.

DISCUSSION

During the 2024/25 fiscal year, a series of capital projects were completed, placed
ojects were funded from the 2024/25 Capital Budget,

previous years capital budgets for projects with multi-year delivery timelines, and surpluses from 
previously closed projects or projects that have been deferred or cancelled. Approvals for projects 
drawing funding from the surpluses were obtained in accordance with the Capital Funding Approval 
Policy.

Spending Summary - April 1, 2024 - March 31, 2025
all capital projects funded from the Halifax Water Capital Budget that were completed prior to March 31, 
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2025.  For water projects, the total expenditure for these completed projects totals $46,001,174 with an 
aggregate net surplus of $3,566,213 (7.2%) relative to the total funding approvals.  For wastewater 
projects, the total expenditure for these completed projects totals $38,895,486, with an aggregate net 
surplus of $8,075,617 (17.2%).  For stormwater projects, the total expenditure for these completed 
projects totals $8,575,498, with an aggregate net deficit of $223,088 (2.7%).  For corporate projects, the 
total expenditure for these completed projects totals $11,798,080, with an aggregate net deficit of 
$4,158,006 (26.1%).   
 

 Projects Over $1,000,000, April 
1, 2024, to March 31, 2025
that were completed prior to March 31, 2025, and required specific NSRAB approval based on the 
$1,000,000 threshold.  For water projects, the total expenditure for these completed projects totals 
$30,567,289 with an aggregate net surplus of $3,595,206.  For wastewater projects, the total expenditure 
for these completed project totals $20,310,751 with an aggregate net surplus of $1,639,249. For 
corporate projects, the total expenditure for this completed project totals $1,072,914 with an aggregate 
net deficit of $3,914. 
 

 Capital Funding Policy requires all material funding increases for capital projects to be 
approved at the time of the funding need.  This process promotes fiscal accountability and improves 
management of available funds.  It should be noted that the threshold for NSRAB approval increased from 
$250,000 to $1,000,000 on October 30, 2019. 
  
The net surpluses will be utilized as a capital funding source in future years, and for funding adjustment 
to projects as required, subject to NSRAB approval as per the Capital Funding Approval Policy. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 

Attachment 1 - Capital Project Spending Summary, April 1, 2024  March 31, 2025 

Attachment 2 - Capital Project Spending over $1 Million, April 1, 2024 - March 31, 2025 
 
 

 

Report Prepared By:  

   Warren Brake, CPA, CGA 
   Manager, Finance  (902) 719-4814 
 
 

Financial Review By:  

   Louis de Montbrun, CPA, CA 
   Director, Corporate Services/CFO (902) 717-5897 
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TO: John MacPherson, Chair and Members of the Halifax Regional Water 
Commission Board

SUBMITTED BY:
Louis de Montbrun, CPA, CA Director, Corporate Services/CFO

APPROVED:

Kenda MacKenzie, P.Eng., General Manager & CEO

DATE: September 10, 2025

SUBJECT: Fall 2025 Debenture

ORIGIN

Halifax Regional Water Commission’s (Halifax Water) participation in the Fall 2025 Nova Scotia 
Finance and Treasury Board Municipal Finance Division (NSFTB) debenture issue to secure debt 
financing for 2025/26 additions to utility plant in service and re-finance a balloon payment on 
existing debt. 

RECOMMENDATION

It is recommended that the Halifax Water Board approve the following motions:

1. Approve the financing of $34,000,000 with a thirty-year amortization term and financing
over ten years. The maximum all-inclusive rate is not to exceed 7.0%.

2.    Approve the re-financing of $15,403,516 with a ten-year amortization term and financing 
over ten years, with an all-inclusive rate not to exceed 7.0%.

BACKGROUND

At the June 9, 2025, meeting of the Halifax Water Audit and Finance Committee (the Committee), 
the attached report, Item #10, Fall 2025 Debenture, was presented, reviewed, and discussed. 
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DISCUSSION 

No additional information was requested to be brought forward to the Halifax Water Board 
meeting following the discussion of the attached at the Committee meeting.  The Committee 
passed the motions to approve the debenture. 

ATTACHMENT 

1. Report to the Halifax Water Audit and Finance Committee Item #10, Fall 2025 
Debenture. 
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TO: Chair and Members of the Halifax Regional Water Commission Audit and 
Finance Committee

SUBMITTED BY:
Louis de Montbrun, CPA, CA, Director, Corporate Services/CFO

APPROVED:

Kenda MacKenzie, P.Eng., General Manager/CEO

DATE: August 29, 2025

SUBJECT: Fall 2025 Debenture

ORIGIN

Halifax Regional Water Commission (Halifax Water) participation in the Fall 2025 Nova Scotia 
Finance and Treasury Board Municipal Finance Division (NSFTB) debenture issue to secure debt 
financing for 2025/26 additions to utility plant in service and re-finance a balloon payment on 
existing debt.

RECOMMENDATION

It is recommended that the Halifax Water Audit and Finance Committee recommend the Board 
approve the following motions:

1. Approve the financing of $34,000,000 with a thirty-year amortization term and finance
over ten years. The maximum all-inclusive rate is not to exceed 7.0%.

2. Approve the re-financing of $15,403,516 with a ten-year amortization term and financing
over ten years, with an all-inclusive rate not to exceed 7.0%.

BACKGROUND

Halifax Water is required to borrow through the NSFTB.  The borrowing proposed in this report 
is estimated using the One Year Business Plan, the approved Operating and Capital Budgets for 
2025/26, and the rate schedule approved by the Nova Scotia Regulatory and Appeals Board.
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DISCUSSION 

The 2025/26, Operating Budget was prepared based on issuing new debt of $68.0 million to 
finance water, wastewater, and stormwater additions to utility plant in service.  The $68.0 million 
will be applied to water, wastewater, and stormwater as follows: 

Water  $30.0 million 
Wastewater $30.0 million 
Stormwater $8.0 million 

Halifax Water obtained half of the new debt in the Spring of 2025 as follows: 

Water  $15.0 million 
Wastewater $15.0 million 
Stormwater $4.0 million 

In addition to funding the new capital assets, refinancing of $15.4 million is required in the Fall 
of 2025 for a balloon payment.  

The balloon payment due relates to debt issued in fiscal 2015/16 of $30.8 million which was 
acquired to fund water, wastewater, and stormwater capital expenditures. The debenture was 
issued for a ten-year term with a twenty-year amortization. The 2015/16 debenture of 
$30,807,026 issued on November 20, 2015, had an all-in interest rate of 2.78%. Halifax Water’s 
current Weighted Average Cost of Debt is 3.79%.   

In the recommendation, Halifax Water uses a rate of 7.0% as recommended by NSFTB.  This 
would be the upper limit that Halifax Water can finance debt.  If the actual interest rate is greater 
than 7.0%, a revised report will be required for the Board.  If the actual interest rate is lower than 
7.0%, a revised report is not required. 

The final interest rates and timing of the debt issues will not be known with certainty until NSFTB 
concludes the formal debenture process.    

Halifax Water’s debt is covered by a blanket guarantee approved by Halifax Regional Municipality 
(HRM) Council in September 2014.  The blanket guarantee will apply to all Halifax Water debt 
with a condition that Halifax Water must maintain a debt service ratio of 35% or less.  Halifax 
Water’s debt service ratio is 17.64% as of March 31, 2025.  The debt service ratio is calculated as 
the cost of debt interest, principal and discount payments divided by the total Operating Revenue 
as found on the income statement (NSRAB format). 
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Halifax Water’s outstanding debt on July 31, 2025 (including the current portion) was $319.8 
million, and debt is projected to be $327.5 million by March 31, 2026, assuming the 
aforementioned new debt is acquired and the balloon payment refinanced.  

BUDGET IMPLICATIONS 

The 2025/26 budget includes $33.1 million in debt servicing costs. Halifax Water’s capital 
financing strategy is designed to maintain a debt service ratio of 35% or less; and to use a mixture 
of infrastructure funding, development related charges (reserves), depreciation, and debt. 

The budget was based on an all-inclusive rate of 4.00% on both new and refinanced debt. The 
Spring 2025 debenture had an all-inclusive rate of 3.73% and the expectation is the Fall 
refinancing will be similar. 

ALTERNATIVES 

1. Halifax Water could choose not to refinance the 2025 Fall balloon payment. This would
lower the cash balance by $15.4 million and have an impact on the ability to fund capital.
For this reason, Halifax Water has chosen to refinance the balloon payment.

2. Halifax Water could finance an amount different than $34.0 million. If Halifax Water
chooses to finance less debt, approximately $0.2 million would be saved for every $5.0
million of debt. Principal costs would decrease $0.1 million from budget, and interest
would decrease $0.1 million from budget.

Attachment 2 provides a cash flow estimate for the 2025/26 fiscal year. The model estimates 
capital expenditures for the year to be $140.0 million based on the Integrated Resource Plan 
required spend of $135.0 million plus a target increase.  

ATTACHMENT 

1. Borrowing Resolution for $39,403,516 million of debt.
2. Cash Flow Model for 2025/26 based on approved Operating and Capital Budgets and

anticipated cash flow.
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Report Prepared by:  
Warren Brake, CPA, CGA, Manager, Accounting, 902-791-4814 



HALIFAX REGIONAL WATER COMMISSION 
BORROWING RESOLUTION 

WHEREAS the Halifax Regional Water Commission (Halifax Water), is incorporated 
under the provisions of the Halifax Regional Water Commission Act, Ch. 55 of the Acts of 
2007 (the “Act”); 

AND WHEREAS the Act provides that Halifax Water has power to borrow such sums as 
may be authorized and approved by the Board of the Commission for the purposes of the 
Commission, subject to the approval of the Nova Scotia Utility and Review Board; 

AND WHEREAS Halifax Water wishes to borrow $15,403,516 for the purpose of 
refinancing balloon payments for their remaining 10-year amortization period;  

AND WHEREAS Halifax Water wishes to borrow $34,000,000 for the purpose of 
financing regular additions to utility plant in service for a 30-year amortization period;  

AND WHEREAS a blanket guarantee for Halifax Water Debt was approved by the Halifax 
Regional Municipality on September 23, 2014;  

BE IT RESOLVED THAT: 

1. Under the authority of Section 16 of the Act, Halifax Water borrow from the Nova
Scotia Finance and Treasury Board Municipal Finance Division, for the purpose
set forth above, a sum or sums not exceeding $34,000,000 with a thirty-year
amortization term and finance over ten years and a sum or sums not exceeding
$15,403,516 with a ten-year amortization term and finance over ten years. The
maximum all-inclusive rate is not to exceed 7.0% percent;

2. The sum noted above be borrowed by the issue of debentures of Halifax Water to
such an amount as Halifax Water deems necessary and that the debentures be
arranged with the Nova Scotia Finance and Treasury Board Municipal Finance
Division, with interest to be paid semi-annually and principal payments made
annually; and

3. This resolution remains in force for a period of not more than 12 months from the
passing of this resolution.

I certify the above to be a true copy of a Resolution approved at a meeting of the Halifax 
Water Board of Directors held on September 25, 2025. 

____________________________________ 
Kenda MacKenzie 
General Manager/CEO 



Cash Flow Model for 2025-26
Extended to May 2026 for Spring Debenture Original Adjustments

Budget Forecast for Cash Flow Cash Flow Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Total
Operating Revenues

Revenues 158,308,577   158,308,577   - 158,308,577 13,192,381   13,192,381   13,192,381   13,192,381   13,192,381   13,192,381   13,192,381   13,192,381   13,192,381   13,192,381   13,192,381  13,192,381  13,192,381   13,192,381   184,693,340   
Potential rate increases 659,619   1,319,238   1,978,857   2,638,476  6,596,191   
Seasonality adjustment -   -   300,000-     300,000-     500,000   500,000   500,000   300,000-   300,000-    300,000-     300,000-     300,000-     600,000-     
Fire Protection 9,794,000   9,794,000   - 9,794,000  9,794,000  9,794,000   
HRM SW Right of Way 6,515,400   6,515,400   - 6,515,400  6,515,400  6,515,400   

174,617,977   174,617,977   - 174,617,977 12,892,381   12,892,381   13,192,381   29,501,781   13,692,381   13,692,381   13,692,381   13,192,381   13,192,381   12,892,381   13,552,000  14,211,620  14,871,239   15,530,858   206,998,931   

Operating Expenses
Monthly Expenses 129,081,763   129,081,763   2,600,000-     126,481,763   10,540,147   10,540,147   10,540,147   10,540,147   10,540,147   10,540,147   10,540,147   10,540,147   10,540,147   10,540,147   10,540,147  10,540,147  10,540,147   10,540,147   147,562,057   
Months with a third or special pays 2,600,000   2,600,000   1,300,000  1,300,000  2,600,000   
Pension Expense -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -  
Total 129,081,763   129,081,763   - 129,081,763 10,540,147   10,540,147   10,540,147   10,540,147   11,840,147   10,540,147   10,540,147   10,540,147   10,540,147   11,840,147   10,540,147  10,540,147  10,540,147   10,540,147   150,162,057   

Non Op Revenue
Interest & Non Op Revenue 1,085,195   1,085,195   - 1,085,195  90,433  90,433   90,433   90,433   90,433   90,433   90,433   90,433   90,433   90,433   90,433   90,433   90,433  90,433   1,266,061   
Provincial Funding - -
Total 1,085,195   1,085,195   - 1,085,195  90,433  90,433   90,433   90,433   90,433   90,433   90,433   90,433   90,433   90,433   90,433   90,433   90,433  90,433   1,266,061   

Non Op Expenses
LT Debt Appropriation 20,513,855   20,513,855   20,513,855-     -   -  
LT Debt Interest 12,291,183   12,291,183   12,291,183-     -   -  
LT Debt P Repayment - existing 21,280,027   21,280,027   3,020,412  1,140,000  5,500,000  4,746,631  6,592,984  280,000   3,020,412  24,300,439   
LT Debt I Repayment - existing 322,704   6,564,178   6,564,178   1,322,326   1,744,782  193,642   163,350   1,227,396  1,727,013  185,669   1,322,326   1,744,782  9,631,287   
LT Debt P & I Repayment - balloon 19,096,986   19,096,986   247,043   3,114,318  15,735,625   247,043   19,344,029   
Bond Discount 279,171   279,171   279,171-     -   -  
Dividend 7,236,050   7,236,050   - 7,236,050  7,236,050   7,236,050   
Depreciation 39,923,680   39,923,680   39,923,680-     -   -  
Other 130,244   130,244   - 130,244 10,854  10,854   10,854   10,854   10,854   10,854   10,854   10,854   10,854   10,854   10,854   10,854   10,854  10,854   151,951   
Total 80,696,887   80,374,183   26,066,698-     54,307,485   1,333,180   5,023,091  3,125,172  1,344,495  10,854   5,674,204  5,984,881  24,066,476   10,854   476,522   10,854   7,246,904   1,333,180   5,023,091  60,663,756   

Operations Total 34,075,478-  33,752,774-    26,066,698   7,686,076-     1,109,488   2,580,423-    382,505-     17,707,572   1,931,814  2,431,536-    2,742,213-    21,323,808-    2,731,814  666,145   3,091,433   3,484,998-     3,088,345   58,053   2,560,821-     

Capital Expenditures
Total 132,994,000   132,994,000   7,006,000   140,000,000   6,000,000   6,500,000  7,000,000  7,000,000  11,666,667   11,666,667   11,666,667   11,666,667   14,666,667   15,666,667   16,666,667  19,833,333  11,082,833   11,082,833   162,165,667   

New Long Term Debt -   -  
Spring 34,000,000   34,000,000   255,000-     33,745,000   33,745,000   33,745,000   67,490,000   
Balloon Refinancing 15,403,516   15,403,516   115,526-     15,287,990   15,287,990   15,287,990   
Fall 34,000,000   34,000,000   255,000-     33,745,000   33,745,000   33,745,000   
Total 83,403,516   83,403,516   625,526-     82,777,990   - 33,745,000 -   -   -   -   -  49,032,990 -   -   -   -   - 33,745,000 116,522,990   

Other Incoming Cash
RDC 20,000,000   20,000,000   20,000,000   6,000,000 1,100,000 3,000,000 1,100,000 1,100,000 1,100,000 1,100,000 1,100,000 1,100,000 1,100,000 1,100,000 1,100,000 1,700,000 1,700,000 23,400,000   
Reserves proceeds -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -  
Total 20,000,000   20,000,000   - 20,000,000 6,000,000   1,100,000  3,000,000  1,100,000  1,100,000  1,100,000  1,100,000  1,100,000  1,100,000  1,100,000  1,100,000   1,100,000   1,700,000   1,700,000  23,400,000   

Changes in working capital
Total -   -   -   -   1,950,000-   1,100,000-   1,200,000-    700,000-     -  100,000-    100,000-    50,000-     50,000-     1,950,000  2,000,000   1,300,000   950,000-     950,000-     1,900,000-     

Net Cash Flow 63,665,962-  63,343,258-    18,435,172   44,908,087-     840,512-  24,664,577   5,582,505-    11,107,572   8,634,853-    13,098,203-     13,408,880-    17,092,515   10,884,853-       11,950,521-     10,475,234-    20,918,331-    7,244,489-     23,470,219   26,703,498-     

Opening Cash Balance 73,126,000   73,126,000   72,285,488   96,950,064   91,367,560   102,475,132   93,840,279   80,742,076   67,333,196   84,425,710   73,540,857   61,590,336  51,115,102  30,196,771   22,952,282   73,126,000   
Ending Cash Balance 28,217,914   72,285,488   96,950,064   91,367,560   102,475,132   93,840,279   80,742,076   67,333,196   84,425,710   73,540,857   61,590,336   51,115,102  30,196,771  22,952,282   46,422,502   46,422,502   

K:\Finance\Confidential\Debenture (Formerly Municipal Finance Corporation)\Debentures (Formerly MFC)\2025 (Fall)\Step 2 - Report for A&F and Board\Cash Flow model - 2025-25 - Update 8/29/2025



ITEM # 4.5
Halifax Water Board

September 25, 2025

Page 1 of 2

TO: John MacPherson, Chair and Members of the Halifax Regional Water 
Commission Board

SUBMITTED BY:
Louis de Montbrun, CPA, CA Director, Corporate Services/CFO

APPROVED:

Kenda MacKenzie, P.Eng., General Manager & CEO

DATE: September 9, 2025

SUBJECT: Changes to the Financial Statements presented to the Board

ORIGIN

Operational and regulatory requirements.

RECOMMENDATION

It is recommended that the Halifax Water Board approve the updated financial statements of the 
Halifax Regional Water Commission for the year ended March 31, 2025.  

BACKGROUND

At the September 4, 2025, meeting of the Halifax Water Audit and Finance Committee (the 
Committee), the attached report, Item #4, Changes to the Financial Statements presented to the 
Board was presented, reviewed, and discussed. 

DISCUSSION

No additional information was requested to be brought forward to the Halifax Water Board 
meeting following the discussion of the attached at the Committee meeting.  The Committee 
passed the motion to approve the updated financial statements of the Halifax Regional Water 
Commission for the year ended March 31, 2025.
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ATTACHMENT 

1. Report to the Halifax Water Audit and Finance Committee Item #4, Changes to the 
Financial Statements presented to the Board. 
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Our purpose is to supply and safeguard sustainable, high-quality water services.

TO: Chair and Members of the Halifax Regional Water Commission Audit and
Finance Committee

SUBMITTED BY:
Louis de Montbrun, CPA, CA
Director, Corporate Services/CFO

APPROVED:  
Kenda McKenzie, P.Eng.
General Manager/CEO

DATE:   August 29, 2025 

SUBJECT: Changes to the Financial Statements presented to the Board

ORIGIN

Operational and regulatory requirements. 

RECOMMENDATION

It is recommended the Audit and Finance Committee recommend the Halifax Regional Water 
Commission Board approve the updated financial statements of the Halifax Regional Water 
Commission for the year ended March 31, 2025. 

BACKGROUND

Halifax Regional Water Commission (Halifax Water) is required to submit audited financial 
statements, approved by the Halifax Water Board, to the Halifax Regional Municipality (HRM) by 
June 30, 2025, and the Nova Scotia Regulatory Appeals Board (NSRAB) formally the Nova Scotia 
Utility and Review Board (NSUARB) within 180 days of the fiscal year end.

The financial statements were submitted to the Audit and Finance Committee and approved at 
the June 9, 2025, meeting, and then submitted to the Halifax Water Board of Commissioners and 
approved at the June 19, 2025, meeting. On both occasions it was acknowledged that Doane 
Grant Thornton were finalizing their audit of the Financial Results and that if any changes were 
made a subsequent approval would be required.
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Our purpose is to supply and safeguard sustainable, high-quality water services.

DISCUSSION 

Attached are the operating results for Halifax Water for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2025, 
with comparative figures for March 31, 2024. 

During the final stages of the audit of the financial results, the auditors identified one notable 
error. Several asset records dating as far back as the 1970s had not been properly depreciated 
under IFRS. IFRS was adopted in 2016 and assets that had differing depreciation rates under IFRS 
and the NSRAB standards in use at the time were to have an opening adjustment and the 
adoption of the IFRS depreciation rates. These assets did not have that adjustment recorded and 
had incorrect or no depreciation applied to them. As a result, there is a restatement of the 
opening April 1, 2023, balances reducing utility plant in service and accumulated surplus by $10.4 
million (note 17). There is also a change to depreciation and amortization expense, reducing it by 
$2.8 million. There were also updates made to related notes and schedules. There was no impact 
on the results under NSRAB standards. 

Other edits to the financial statements compared to what was presented at the June meetings
are as follows: 

 In the statement of cash flows, a correction to the employee benefit obligation to adjust for 
only the non-cash portion. The $3.1 million change does not impact Note 4 employee benefit 
surplus or any other areas of the statements.

 In the statement of cash flows, a correction to purchase of capital work in progress, utility 
plant in service and intangible assets to reflect the non-cash capital contributions. The $3.1 
million change does not have any other impacts on the statements.

 In note 4 - Employee benefit surplus (obligations), a correction to the discount rates 
identified for the pre-retirement benefit. 

 In schedule B - Schedule of long-term debt, corrections to the naming and interest rates listed 
for some debentures. 

As a result of these changes the earnings for the year under IFRS is now $6.0 million, an 
improvement of $2.5 million.  
 
Additionally, at the June 19, 2025, meeting, the Halifax Water Board approved the results of the 
Corporate Balance Scorecard and the associated financial award. This estimated cost of $0.3 
million was recorded in the March 31, 2025, Financial Results. The loss under NSRAB increased 
by $0.3 million and is now $15.6 million. 



ITEM #4 
Halifax Water Audit and Finance Committee

September 4, 2025 

Page 3 of 3 

Our purpose is to supply and safeguard sustainable, high-quality water services.

 

 

Report prepared by:  

 Warren Brake, CPA, CGA 
 Manager of Accounting (902) 719-4814 

Attachments 

Attachment 1: Financial statements for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2025. 
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Halifax Regional Water Commission 
Statement of financial position
      (As restated - 
      Note 17) 

March 31 (in thousands)  2025 2024 

Assets 
Current 
 Cash and cash equivalents $  73,126 $  44,021
 Receivables 
  Customer charges and contractual (Note 8)   21,851   21,546
  Unbilled service revenues (Note 8)   22,019   20,959 
 Inventory   2,530   2,364 
 Prepaids   2,178   1,735 

  121,704   90,625 

Employee benefit surplus (Note 4)   1,053   - 
Intangible assets (Note 10)   42,855   35,989 
Capital work in progress   115,627   114,374 
Utility plant in service (Note 11)   1,345,901   1,287,511 
Total assets   1,627,140   1,528,499

Regulatory deferral account (Note 5)   1,852   2,044 
Total assets and regulatory deferral account $  1,628,992 $  1,530,543 

Liabilities 
Current 
 Payables and accruals 
  Trade $  35,896 $  23,393 
  Non-trade   6,430   5,579 
  Interest on long term debt   4,061   3,062 
  Halifax Regional Municipality   4,459   5,047 
 Contractor and customer deposits   1,447   1,095
 Current portion of deferred contributed capital (Note 12)   19,249   19,260
 Current portion of long term debt (Note 13)    32,881   39,832 
 Unearned revenue   442   157

  104,865   97,425 

Deferred contributed capital (Note 12)   951,883   928,048 
Long term debt (Note 13)   260,129   196,622 
Employee benefit obligations (Note 4)   -   2,353 
Total liabilities   1,316,877   1,224,448 

Equity
Accumulated other comprehensive income    66,923   60,396 
Accumulated surplus    245,192   245,699 
Total equity   312,115   306,095 
Total liabilities and equity $  1,628,992 $  1,530,543 

Contingent liabilities (Note 3) 
Commitments (Note 6) 

Approved by the Halifax Regional Water Commission Board 

        Chair   Vice Chair 

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.

 Current portion of deferred contributed capital (Note 12)  Current portion of deferred contributed capital (Note 12) 
 Current portion of long term debt (Note 13)   Current portion of long term debt (Note 13)  

Deferred contributed capital (Note 12) Deferred contributed capital (Note 12) 
Long term debt (Note 13)   Long term debt (Note 13)   

  1,852 
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Halifax Regional Water Commission 
Statement of earnings and comprehensive earnings 
Year ended March 31 (in thousands) 2025 2024

Operating revenues 
 Water  $  56,116 $  54,938
 Wastewater  90,110 89,512 
 Stormwater  15,226 15,196 

Public fire protection 8,083 8,083 
Private fire protection  1,785 1,698 
Other operating revenue 2,903 2,552 

174,223 171,979 

Operating expenditures (Note 14) 
Water supply and treatment 16,127 14,786 
Water transmission and distribution 16,717 13,768 

 Wastewater collection 15,383 14,554 
 Stormwater collection 6,053 5,755 
 Wastewater treatment 26,950 24,782 

Engineering and technology services 16,864 16,053 
 Regulatory services 5,346 5,532 
 Customer services 4,477 4,631
 Corporate services 4,043  3,114 
 Administration services 6,635 6,263 
 Pension services 3,107 3,012 
 Depreciation and amortization 56,195 53,654 

177,897 165,904 

Income (loss) from operations before financial and other 
revenues and expenditures (3,674) 6,075 

Financial and other revenues 
 Interest 367 412 

Amortization of deferred contributed capital 19,122 18,997 
 Other  611 488 

20,100 19,897 

Financial and other expenditures 
 Interest 253 103 

Interest on long term debt 9,294 7,276 
Amortization of debt issue costs 244 222 
Dividend/grant in lieu of taxes (Note 6) 6,816 6,589 

 Other  134 132 
16,741 14,322 

Earnings (loss) for the year before regulatory deferral account 
 depreciation (315) 11,650

Regulatory deferral account depreciation 192   192

Earnings for the year (507) 11,458

Other comprehensive earnings 
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to earnings: 

Re-measurement on defined benefit plans  6,527 8,745

Total comprehensive earnings for the year $  6,020 $  20,203 

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 

Income (loss) from operations before financial and other 

Amortization of deferred contributed capital Amortization of deferred contributed capital 

Financial and other expenditures Financial and other expenditures 
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Halifax Regional Water Commission 
Statement of changes in equity 
Year ended March 31 (in thousands) 

Accumulated
other

comprehensive Accumulated
       income  surplus Total  

Balance, April 1, 2023, as previously reported $ 51,651 $ 244,672 $ 296,323 
Restatement of utility plant in service (Note 17)  -  (10,431) (10,431) 
Balance, April 1, 2023, as restated 51,651 $ 234,241 285,892 

Earnings for the year - 11,458 11,458 
Other comprehensive earnings 8,745 - 8,745
Comprehensive earnings for the year 8,745 11,458 20,203 

Balance, March 31, 2024 $ 60,396 $ 245,699 $ 306,095 

Earnings (loss) for the year - (507) (507)
Other comprehensive earnings 6,527 - 6,527
Comprehensive earnings for the year 6,527 (507) 6,020

Balance, March 31, 2025 $  66,923 $  245,192 $  312,115

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 

$ 60,396 $ 245,699 $ 306,095 $ 60,396 $ 245,699 $ 306,095 

-
6,527 6,527 
6,527 6,527 

$  66,923 $  245,192 $  312,115$  66,923 $  245,192 $  312,115
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Halifax Regional Water Commission 
Statement of cash flows
Year ended March 31 (in thousands) 2025 2024 

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 

Operating 
  Comprehensive earnings for the year $  6,020 $  20,203 
  Depreciation and amortization   39,111   36,395 
  Employee benefit obligation   6,527   5,725 
  Gain on disposal of utility plant in service   -   8 

  51,658   62,331 

  Change in non-cash operating working capital items  
   Receivables, customer charges and contractual   (305)   (3,722) 
   Receivables, unbilled service revenues   (1,060)   (1,694) 
   Inventory   (166)   1,153 
   Prepaids   (443)   (453) 
   Payables and accruals, trade   12,503   (1,099) 
   Payables and accruals, non-trade   851   862 
   Payables and accruals, accrued interest on long term debt   999   857 
   Payable to Halifax Regional Municipality   (588)   7,000 
   Contractor and customer deposits   352   (1,746) 
   Unearned revenue   285   81 

  12,428   1,239 
  64,086   63,570 

Financing 
  Proceeds from issuance of long term debt   80,000   39,988 
  Contributed capital and interest   32,833   3,512 
  Debt issue costs   (478)   (251) 
  Principal repayment on Halifax Regional Municipality long term debt   (6,500)   (6,500) 
  Principal repayments on long term debt   (16,466)   (15,234) 

  89,389  21,515 

Investing 
  Proceeds from sale of utility plant in service   -   75 
  Purchase of capital work in progress, utility plant in service and intangible assets   (124,370)   (85,735) 

  (124,370)   (85,660) 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents   29,105   (575) 

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year   44,021   44,596 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $  73,126 $  44,021 

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 

   Payables and accruals, non-trade      Payables and accruals, non-trade   

  (588) 
  352 

Regional Municipality long term debt Regional Municipality long term debt 

utility plant in service utility plant in service 
  Purchase of capital work in progress, ut  Purchase of capital work in progress, utility plant in service and intangible assets ility plant in service and intangible assets 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 
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Halifax Regional Water Commission 
Notes to the financial statements 
March 31, 2025 (in thousands) 

1.  Nature of operations

The Halifax Regional Water Commission (Halifax Water) is a public utility owned and controlled by the Halifax Regional 
Municipality (HRM).  Halifax Water is responsible for the supply of municipal Water, Wastewater and Stormwater Services to 
the residents of HRM.  Halifax Water�s principal place of business is 450 Cowie Hill Road, Halifax, Nova Scotia.  Halifax Water
is exempt from income tax.   

2.  Summary of material accounting policies

(a) Statement of compliance 

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards Accounting 
Standards (IFRS Accounting Standards) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).  The principal 
accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below.  These policies have been 
consistently applied to all years presented, unless otherwise stated.  

The financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Commissioners on June 19, 2025. 

(b) Basis of measurement

Halifax Water�s financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis, except for certain financial instruments measured 
at fair value.  The financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand. 
The financial statements are presented in accordance with International Accounting Standards (IAS) 1: Presentation of Financial
Statements. 

(c) Regulation

In matters of administrative policy relating to customers, rates and other charges, capital expenditures, depreciation rates and 
accounting matters, Halifax Water is subject to the jurisdiction of the Nova Scotia Regulatory and Appeals Board (NSRAB), 
which replaced the Nova Scotia Utility and Review Board (NSUARB) on April 1, 2025.  Rates and other charges charged to and 
collected from customers are designed to recover the cost of providing the regulated services.  Halifax Water is required to 
prepare submissions in accordance with the Water Utility Accounting and Reporting Handbook (the NSRAB Handbook) issued 
by the NSRAB.  There are differences in the accounting treatment of certain transactions from IFRS Accounting Standards 
including the accounting of principal debt payments, employee future benefits, depreciation and amortization, gains and losses 
on the disposal of utility plant in service, and accumulated surplus. 

Regulatory assets represent costs incurred that have been deferred as approved by the NSUARB and will be recovered through 
future rates collected from customers.  These assets are described as the �regulatory deferral account� and are disclosed in 
Note 5.  

(d) Utility plant in service

Utility plant in service (Note 11) is recorded at cost, being the purchase price and directly attributable cost of acquisition or 
construction.  Losses or gains related to assets retired, demolished or sold are charged or credited to the statement of earnings.   

(e) Leased assets 

Halifax Water makes use of lease arrangements for office space and equipment, and assesses whether a contract is, or contains 
a lease at the inception of the contract.  A lease conveys the right to direct the use and obtain substantially all of the economic 
benefits of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.   

At lease commencement date, Halifax Water assess whether the recognition of a right-of-use asset and lease liability would 
have a material impact on the financial statements. 
  

accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below.  These policies have been accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below.  These policies have been 
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Halifax Regional Water Commission 
Notes to the financial statements 
March 31, 2025 (in thousands) 

2.  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

(e) Leased assets (continued) 

A right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which is comprised of the initial measurement of the lease liability, any initial 
direct costs incurred, an estimate of any costs to dismantle and remove the asset at the end of the lease, and any lease 
payments made in advance of the lease commencement date (net of any incentives received).  A right-of-use asset is 
subsequently measured at cost less any accumulated depreciation or impairment losses and adjusted for certain re-
measurements of the lease liability.  A lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not 
paid at the commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily 
determined, Halifax Water�s incremental borrowing rate. 

Halifax Water has elected to apply the practical expedients available under IFRS 16 for short-term leases and leases for which 
the underlying asset is of low value.  Short-term leases and low value leases are expensed in the period incurred. 

Halifax Water maintains very few lease arrangements and management will assess future leases as they arise to determine 
whether the impact of the recognition of a right-of-use asset and lease liability on the statements of financial position, where 
Halifax Water is acting as a lessee, is material to the financial statements.  All existing leases have been assessed and 
recognition in the financial statements has been deemed immaterial.  

(f) Deferred contributed capital 

Contributions towards capital projects are treated as deferred contributed capital on the statement of financial position and 
amortized over the estimated useful lives of the assets (Note 12).  Deferred contributed capital is initially measured at cost,
being the value of contributions received by Halifax Water for the acquisition of utility plant in service.  Contributions for capital 
expenditures are amortized over the estimated useful lives of the assets and show as a reduction in the amortization of utility
plant in service.  

(g) Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand and cash balances managed by HRM that are held within financial 
institutions. 

(h) Depreciation of utility plant in service 

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets. 

The estimated useful lives for the major classifications of utility plant in service are as follows: 

Office equipment and furniture and 
 transportation equipment 3 to 10 years 
Supervisory control and data acquisition  
 (SCADA) equipment 5 to 25 years 
Meters 20 to 25 years  
Pumping equipment 5 to 30 years 
Tools and work equipment 5 to 30 years 
Culverts 25 to 50 years 
Purification and treatment equipment 20 to 50 years 

  Services and laterals 50 to 60 years 
Hydrants 50 to 80 years  
Structures and improvements 50 to 100 years  
Water, Wastewater and Stormwater mains 50 to 100 years 

  

 and low value leases are expensed in the period incurred.  and low value leases are expensed in the period incurred. 

ent will assess future leases as they arise to determine ent will assess future leases as they arise to determine 
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Halifax Regional Water Commission 
Notes to the financial statements 
March 31, 2025 (in thousands) 

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(h) Depreciation of utility plant in service (continued)

Depreciation commences in the year an asset is placed into service and ready for its intended use.  In the year of acquisition,
depreciation is calculated at 50% of the above rates unless a project is significant, in which case depreciation is prorated for the 
number of months the asset was in use.  Halifax Water does not maintain a depreciation fund per regulatory reporting 
requirements.  Halifax Water has received NSRAB approval for exemption from establishing a depreciation fund as long as net 
depreciable additions to utility plant in service exceed the depreciation expense included within the rates. 

(i) Inventory 

Inventory is comprised of direct materials and supplies.  Inventory is valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value with 
cost being determined on the weighted average cost method. 

(j) Revenues and expenditures

Halifax Water recognizes revenue in a manner that depicts the transfer of goods or services to customers at an amount that 
reflects the consideration Halifax Water is entitled to in exchange for those goods or services rendered.   

All revenues and expenditures are recorded on an accrual basis.  Revenues relating to supplying Water, Wastewater and 
Stormwater Services are recorded based on cyclical billings and include an accrual for amounts not yet billed.  Fire protection
revenue is recorded based on approved rates.  Other revenues are recorded at the time services are performed, the amount 
can be measured reliably, and collection is reasonably assured. 

(k) Long term debt

Debt issue costs are deferred and amortized over the term of the debt to which they relate. 

(l) Use of estimates and critical accounting judgments

In preparing Halifax Water�s financial statements, management is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements 
and reported amounts of revenue and expenditures during the period.  Significant estimates and assumptions include the 
following: 

At year end, unbilled service revenues from Water, Wastewater and Stormwater Services have been earned, but not yet
billed due to the timing of the billing cycles.  Management estimates the unbilled service revenues accrual based on actual
consumption information.
Management assumptions are used in the actuarial determination of employee benefit obligations, such as standard rates
of inflation, mortality, discount rates, and anticipation of future salary increases.
Useful lives of utility plant in service are reviewed based on expected patterns of usage and historical information.
The impairment loss of plant in service and intangibles based on judgement of future utility in the delivery of services.
Recognition and measurement of provisions and contingencies.
The collectability of accounts receivable, allowance for doubtful accounts and bad debts are estimated based on the age
of receivables, historical rates of collection, and review of the likelihood of collection of individual balances.

Actual results could differ from these estimates. 

(m) Financial instruments

Recognition and derecognition 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized when Halifax Water becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 
financial instrument.  Financial assets are derecognized when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset
expire, or when the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards are transferred.  A financial liability is derecognized 
when it is extinguished, discharged, cancelled or expired. 

fer of goods or services to customers at an amount that fer of goods or services to customers at an amount that 
those goods or services rendered.   those goods or services rendered.   

All revenues and expenditures are recorded on an accrual basis.  All revenues and expenditures are recorded on an accrual basis.  Revenues relating to supplying Water, Wastewater and Revenues relating to supplying Water, Wastewater and 
ded based on cyclical billings and include an accrual for amounts not ded based on cyclical billings and include an accrual for amounts not 
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Halifax Regional Water Commission 
Notes to the financial statements 
March 31, 2025 (in thousands) 

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(m) Financial instruments (continued)

Classification and initial measurement of financial instruments 
All financial instruments are initially measured at fair value and adjusted for transaction costs, where applicable.  Financial
instruments are classified as: those measured at amortized cost, fair value through other comprehensive income (assets only), 
or fair value through profit and loss (FVTPL).  

Halifax Water has classified its financial instruments as follows: 

Asset/Liability Classification
Cash and cash equivalents Amortized cost 
Receivables Amortized cost
Payables and accruals Amortized cost 
Long term debt Amortized cost 
Contractor and customer deposits Amortized cost 

The classification is determined by both the Halifax Water business model for managing the financial instrument and the 
contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial instrument.  

Subsequent measurement of financial assets 
Financial assets are measured subsequently at amortized cost if the assets meet the following conditions, and are not 
designated as FVTPL: 

they are held within a business model whose objective is to hold the financial assets and collect its contractual cash
flows; and
the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.

After initial recognition, financial instruments are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method.  Discounting 
is omitted where the effect of discounting is immaterial.  

Impairment of financial assets 
Impairment requirements use more forward-looking information to recognize expected credit losses, the expected credit loss 
(ECL) model. Financial assets that are subject to the ECL model include cash and cash equivalents and receivables. 

Subsequent measurement of financial liabilities 
Financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. All interest charges are
included in interest costs or revenues within the statement of earnings and comprehensive earnings. 

(n) Provisions

A provision is recognized in the statement of financial position when Halifax Water has a legal or constructive obligation as a
result of a past event, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation.  If the effect 
is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a rate that reflects current market 
assessment of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the obligation.  

(o) Impairments

At the end of each reporting period, Halifax Water reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine 
whether there is an indication of an impairment loss.  If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the assets is 
estimated in order to determine the extent of impairment loss, if any.  The recoverable amount of any asset is the higher of its 
fair value less costs to sell and its value in use.   

business model for managing the financial instrument and the business model for managing the financial instrument and the 

Financial assets are measured subsequently at amortized cost if the assets mFinancial assets are measured subsequently at amortized cost if the assets m

they are held within a business model whose objective is they are held within a business model whose objective is to hold the financial assets and collect its contractual to hold the financial assets and collect its contractual 

the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and 
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Halifax Regional Water Commission 
Notes to the financial statements 
March 31, 2025 (in thousands) 

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(o) Impairments (continued)

Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the impairment test is carried out on the 
asset�s cash-generating unit (CGU), which is the lowest group of assets to which the asset belongs for which there are separately 
identifiable cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets.  Halifax Water has three CGU�s 
(Water, Wastewater and Stormwater) for which impairment testing is performed. 

If the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is 
reduced to its recoverable amount.  An impairment loss is recognized immediately in earnings.  When an impairment loss is 
subsequently reversed, the carrying amount of the assets is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so
that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment 
loss been recognized for the asset in prior years. 

(p) Intangible assets

Intangible assets include land rights, water removal rights, studies, and capital master plans.  These are recorded at cost less 
accumulated amortization. Land rights include payment for easements and right of use over land and have an indefinite useful 
life.  Intangibles with finite useful lives are amortized annually over the estimated useful lives.  The expected useful lives are as 
follows: 

Intangible assets 10 to 30 years 

(q) Employee benefit obligations

Halifax Water accrues annually, the estimated liabilities for pension and other employee benefits. 

Pension benefits 
Halifax Water provides employment, post-retirement and pre-retirement benefits through defined benefit plans and supplemental 
retirement plans.  

The cost of pension benefits for the supplemental retirement plans are expensed at the time active employees are compensated. 

The defined benefit plan sponsored by Halifax Water determines the amount of pension benefits employees will receive on 
retirement by reference to length of service and salary levels. Obligations associated with the defined benefit plan reside with 
Halifax Water, even if plan assets for funding the plan are set aside.  

The liability recognized in the statement of financial position for the defined benefit plan sponsored by Halifax Water is the present 
value of the defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting date less the fair value of plan assets. 

Management estimates the defined benefit obligation annually with assistance from an independent actuaries using the projected 
unit credit method.  The defined benefit obligation uses estimates for inflation, medical cost trends, mortality, and anticipated 
salary levels.  The discount factor used to present value estimated future cash flows is determined with reference to high quality 
corporate bonds that have terms to maturity approximating the terms of the related pension liability. 

Gains and losses resulting from re-measurements of the net defined benefit liability are charged to other comprehensive income 
in the period in which they arise.  Service costs are recognized immediately into earnings. 

Net interest cost related to pension obligations and returns on plan assets are included in salary and benefits on the statement 
of earnings. 

ng amount that would have been determined had no impairment ng amount that would have been determined had no impairment 
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Halifax Regional Water Commission 
Notes to the financial statements 
March 31, 2025 (in thousands) 

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(q)  Employee benefit obligations (continued)

Halifax Water is responsible for funding the employer share of contributions to the HRM pension plan for certain employees that
transferred from HRM as of August 1, 2007.  HRM administers this defined benefit pension plan and Halifax Water reimburses 
HRM for the pension costs related to Halifax Water�s proportionate share of the employees covered under the plan.  Due to the 
nature of the plan, Halifax Water does not have sufficient information to account for the plan as a defined benefit pension plan; 
therefore, the multi-employer defined benefit plan is accounted for in the same manner as the supplemental retirement plans. 
An expense is recorded in the period when Halifax Water is obligated to make contributions for services rendered by the 
employee.   

Short-term employee benefits 
Short-term employee benefit obligations that are due to be settled wholly within twelve months after the end of the annual 
reporting period in which the employees rendered the related service are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed 
as the related service is provided. 

(r)  Regulatory deferral account 

The regulatory deferral account is recognized and measured at historical cost less depreciation.  Management continually 
assesses the likelihood of recovery of regulatory assets.  If recovery through future rates is no longer considered probable, the 
amounts would be charged to the results of operations in the period that the assessment is made. 

3. Contingent liabilities

Halifax Water has reviewed environmental risk factors at properties owned to determine whether there is an obligation for 
reclamation.  As of the date of issue of the financial statements the likelihood of any related liability is not determinable. 

There are active claims against Halifax Water; however, the likelihood of actual liability is not determinable at this time.  If Halifax 
Water�s defence of active claims is unsuccessful, the potential exposure would be $1,000 - $2,000. 

4. Employee benefit surplus (obligations)

Retirement benefit plan � employees transferred from HRM 
For employees that transferred from HRM, Halifax Water records an expense for the employer�s share of the contributions to the 
Halifax Regional Municipality Pension Plan (HRM Pension Plan) in the period when Halifax Water is obligated to make 
contributions for services rendered by the employee.  During 2025, Halifax Water funded $446 (2024 - $431) in contributions to 
the HRM Pension Plan.  The number of employees included in this plan is 39 (2024 - 44) and this number is reducing over time. 
As former HRM employees retire, they are replaced with employees in the Halifax Regional Water Commission Employee 
Pension Plan (the Plan). 

Supplemental retirement plans sponsored by Halifax Water 
For employees who participate in the supplemental retirement plans, the cost of pension benefits are expensed at the time active 
employees are compensated.  During 2025, Halifax Water funded $22 (2024 - $21) in contributions to these plans.  The number 
of employees included in these plans is 11 (2024 - 5).  
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Notes to the financial statements 
March 31, 202 (in thousands) 

4. Employee benefit surplus (obligations) (continued)

Defined benefit plan sponsored by Halifax Water and other long term employment benefits 
For all other employees, Halifax Water maintains a defined benefit pension plan and offers post-retirement health and insurance
benefits.  The defined benefit pension plan provides pensions based upon length of service and best seven consecutive years� 
earnings.  The defined benefit pension plan is funded by employer and employee contributions with employees contributing 
9.60% (10.34% to December 31, 2021) of pensionable employee earnings and Halifax Water matching employee contributions. 
The defined benefit pension plan assets are managed by the HRM Pension Committee.   

Employees, who retired prior to July 1, 1998, have extended health benefits coverage for life, and drug coverage until age 65. 
Employees, who retired after July 1, 1998 and before December 31, 2008, had coverage for extended health, drug, dental and 
life insurance until age 65 on a 50/50 cost shared basis.  Employees who retired after December 31, 2008 have coverage for 
extended health, drug, dental and life insurance until age 65 on a 100% retiree paid basis.  As of March 31, 2025, only pre-July 
1998 participants remain, as such the actuarial assumptions for the post-retirement benefits reflect only the remaining health 
benefit trending percentage.  Extended health coverage for retirees and their spouses after the age of 65 is available on an 
optional basis at 100% retiree cost and drug coverage is available through the provincially managed drug program.  

Halifax Water has a non-funded pre-retirement benefit that is accrued annually, and is payable on retirement, termination or 
death of the employee.  For individuals who elected to defer receipt of their benefit until the time which they leave employment, 
their individual benefit equates to approximately three days� pay for each year of completed service.  Completed service for 
unionized employees was frozen as at June 7, 2019, and June 20, 2019 for non-union employees, for the purposes of 
determining their pre-retirement benefit.  Pre-retirement benefits accrue to a maximum of six months� salary and can be taken 
as a lump sum payment at the time of retirement in lieu of pre-retirement leave. 

Information about Halifax Water�s plans, based on an actuarial valuation of the defined benefit pension plan, and an actuarial 
extrapolation of the pre-retirement benefits and the post-retirement benefits as at March 31, 2025, is as follows: 

Defined benefit pension plan Post-retirement benefits Pre-retirement benefits Total
 2025  2024  2025 2024 2025 2024 2025  2024

Change in accrued benefit obligation 

Balance, April 1 $ 199,825 $ 186,747 $ 212 $ 290 $ 1,441 $ 1,357 $ 201,478 $ 188,394 

Current service cost  11,512  10,710 54  - 72 71  11,638  10,781
Interest cost  9,850  9,245 9  12 68 68 9,927  9,325
Benefit payments  (9,122)  (6,877) (38) (39) (272) (76) (9,432)  (6,992) 
Re-measurements � actuarial (gains)/ 

losses from changes in  
financial/experience assumptions  5,273  - (2) (51) 127 21  5,398  (30) 

Balance, March 31  217,338  199,825  235  212  1,436  1,441  219,009  201,478 

Change in fair value of plan assets 

Balance, April 1  199,125  180,316 - -  -  -  199,125  180,316 
Investment income 9,742  8,865 -  -  -  -  9,742  8,865
Administrative expenses (114) (109) - -  -  -  (114) (109)
Actual return on plan assets  11,803  8,743 - - -  -  11,803 8,743
Benefit payments  (9,122)  (6,877) (38) (39) (271) (76) (9,431) (6,992)
Contributions: Employee 4,419  4,505 -  - - - 4,419  4,505

Employer  4,209  3,682  38 39  271  76 4,518 3,797

Balance, March 31  220,062  199,125 -  -  -  -  220,062  199,125 

Accrued benefit surplus (liability), 
 March 31 $ 2,724 $ (700) $ (235) $ (212) $ (1,436) $ (1,441) $ 1,053 $ (2,353)

the post-retirement benefits reflect only the remaining health the post-retirement benefits reflect only the remaining health 
 and their spouses after the age of 65 is available on an  and their spouses after the age of 65 is available on an 

optional basis at 100% retiree cost and drug coverage is available through the provincially managed drug program.  optional basis at 100% retiree cost and drug coverage is available through the provincially managed drug program.  

 accrued annually, and is payable on retirement, termination or  accrued annually, and is payable on retirement, termination or 
elected to defer receipt of their benefit unelected to defer receipt of their benefit until the time which they leave employmentil the time which they leave employmen

their individual benefit equates to approximately three days� pay fotheir individual benefit equates to approximately three days� pay for each year of completed service.  Completed service for r each year of completed service.  Completed service for 
unionized employees was frozen as at June 7, 2019, and June 20, 2019 for non-union employees, for the purposes of une 20, 2019 for non-union employees, for the purposes of 
determining their pre-retirement benefit.  Pre-retirement benefits accrue to a maximum of six months� salary and can be taken determining their pre-retirement benefit.  Pre-retirement benefits accrue to a maximum of six months� salary and can be taken 

rement in lieu of pre-retirement leave. rement in lieu of pre-retirement leave. 

Information about Halifax Water�s plans, based on an actuarial valuation of the defined benefit pension plan, and an actuarial Information about Halifax Water�s plans, based on an actuarial valuation of the defined benefit pension plan, and an actuarial 
extrapolation of the pre-retirement benefits and the post-retireextrapolation of the pre-retirement benefits and the post-retirement benefits as at March 31, 2025, is as follows: ment benefits as at March 31, 2025, is as follows: 

Defined benefit pension planDefined benefit pension plan Post-retirement benefitsPost-retirement benefits
 2025 2025  2024  2024  2025   2025 

Change in accrued benefit obligation Change in accrued benefit obligation 

$ 199,825$ 199,825 $ 186,747  $ 186,747 

11,512  10,710   10,710 
9,850 9,850  9,245 

(9,122) (9,122) 
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4.  Employee benefit surplus (obligations) (continued) 

Included in the statement of earnings and comprehensive earnings is pension expense of $7,045 (2024 - $6,514). 

The significant actuarial assumptions adopted in measuring Halifax Water�s accrued benefit obligations are as follows: 

2025  2024  2025  2024  2025  2024 
Defined  Defined 

   benefit  benefit  Post-  Post-  Pre-  Pre- 
 Pension  Pension  retirement  retirement  retirement  retirement 
 plan  plan  benefits  benefits  benefit  benefit 

Discount rate 4.80% 4.90% 4.20% 4.75% 4.40% 4.90% 
Expected return on plan assets 4.80% 4.90%  N/A N/A N/A N/A 
Rate of compensation increase 3.75% 3.75% N/A N/A 3.90% 3.75% 
Expenses for life benefits as a % of claims N/A N/A 0.00% 0.00% N/A N/A 
Health benefit trending per year N/A N/A 6.16%   6.30% N/A N/A 
Dental benefit trending per year                           N/A                  N/A             0.00%             0.00% N/A                  N/A 

The measurement date used to determine the plan assets and the accrued benefit obligation was March 31, 2025.  The most 
recent actuarial valuation for the defined benefit pension plan was January 1, 2025, with the next actuarial valuation scheduled 
for January 1, 2028. The most recent actuarial valuation for the accrued benefit obligation was March 31, 2024.  Going concern 
extrapolations of the defined benefit pension plan occur annually between the actuarial valuation dates. 

The estimated employer contributions expected to be paid to the pension plans for the next fiscal year are $4,800. 

5.  Regulatory deferral account

In 2011, the NSUARB granted Halifax Water approval to defer depreciation charges on certain assets transferred in 2010 from 
HRM relating to the Halifax Harbour Solutions Project (HHSP).  Depreciation of $2,078 was deferred in each of fiscal 2011 and 
2012.  As a result, Halifax Water recognized a $4,156 regulatory deferral account.  In absence of rate regulation, this regulatory 
deferral account would have been expensed as depreciation in fiscal 2011 and 2012.  In 2012, the NSUARB granted approval 
of the depreciation of this deferral account over the remaining useful lives of the underlying assets, beginning in 2014.  The 
expense recognized in 2025 is $192 (2024 - $192). 

    2025 2024 

Balance, April 1 $ 2,044 $ 2,236 
Depreciation  (192)  (192) 

Balance, March 31 $ 1,852 $ 2,044 

6.  Commitments

An agreement with HRM for the dividend/grant in lieu of taxes (dividend) for the period from April 1, 2023 through March 31, 
2028 whereby dividend payments are approved as part of revenue requirements by the NSRAB.  The total amount payable will 
be calculated based on Property Valuation Services Corporation�s (PVSC) assessed value of Halifax Water properties and the 
property tax rates set by HRM each fiscal year. The assessed value of Halifax Water properties will be reduced by a declining 
percentage over the five-year period to phase in this new approach. For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2025, the assessed 
values of the properties were reduced by 6% for the calculation (2024 � 8%). The payment will be allocated to each service 
based on no more than 1.56% times the water rate base, at least 0.25% times the wastewater rate base, and at least 0.25% 
times the stormwater rate base. In the event these allocations are not sufficient to fund the payment in any given fiscal year, the 
allocations for wastewater and stormwater will be increased to an amount sufficient to fund the payment.   

4.90%  N/A N/A N/A N/A 4.90%  N/A N/A N/A N/A 
3.75% N/A N/A 3.90% 3.75% 3.75% N/A N/A 3.90% 3.75% 

N/A 0.00% 0.00% N/A N/A N/A 0.00% 0.00% N/A N/A 
N/A 6.16%   6.30% N/A N/A N/A 6.16%   6.30% N/A N/A 

Dental benefit trending per year                           N/A                  N/A             0.00%             0.00% N/A    Dental benefit trending per year                           N/A                  N/A             0.00%             0.00% N/A    

the accrued benefit obligation was March 31, 2025.  The most the accrued benefit obligation was March 31, 2025.  The most 
was January 1, 2025, with the next actuarial valuation schedulewas January 1, 2025, with the next actuarial valuation schedule

for January 1, 2028. The most recent actuarial valuation for the accrued benefit obligation was March 31, 2024.  Going concern e accrued benefit obligation was March 31, 2024.  Going concern 
occur annually between the actuarial valuation dates. occur annually between the actuarial valuation dates. 

The estimated employer contributions expected to be paid to the pension plans for the next fiscal year are $4,800. to the pension plans for the next fiscal year are $4,800. 

In 2011, the NSUARB granted Halifax Water approval to defer dIn 2011, the NSUARB granted Halifax Water approval to defer depreciation charges on certain assets transferred in 2010 from epreciation charges on certain assets transferred in 2010 from 
HRM relating to the Halifax Harbour Solutions Project (HHSP).  Depreciation of $2,078 was deferred in each of fiscal 2011 and HRM relating to the Halifax Harbour Solutions Project (HHSP).  Depreciation of $2,078 was deferred in each of fiscal 2011 and 
2012.  As a result, Halifax Water recognized a $4,156 regulatory deferral account.  In absence of rate regulation, this regulat2012.  As a result, Halifax Water recognized a $4,156 regulatory deferral account.  In absence of rate regulation, this regulat
deferral account would have been expensed as depreciation in deferral account would have been expensed as depreciation in 
of the depreciation of this deferral account over the remaininof the depreciation of this deferral account over the remainin
expense recognized in 2025 is $192 (2024 - $192). expense recognized in 2025 is $192 (2024 - $192). 
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7. Capital management 

Halifax Water�s objective when managing capital is to ensure sufficient liquidity to support its financial obligations and execute 
its operating and capital plans. Halifax Water monitors and adjusts its capital structure through additional borrowings of long
term debt which are used to finance capital projects. 

Halifax Water considers its total capitalization to include all long term debt and total equity.  The calculation is set out as follows: 

2025 2024 

Long term debt $  293,010 $  236,454 
Equity   319,733   316,526 
Capital under management $  612,743 $  552,980 

Halifax Water has obtained regulatory approval for all borrowings during the fiscal year.  Halifax Water is not subject to financial 
borrowing covenants other than as outlined in Note 9. 

8. Financial instruments and risk management 

Halifax Water applies a three-tier hierarchy framework for disclosing fair value of financial instruments, based on whether the
inputs into the various valuation techniques are observable or unobservable.  Observable techniques reflect market data 
obtained from independent sources, while unobservable inputs reflect management assumptions.  Changes in valuation 
techniques of financial instruments may result in transfers of assigned levels.  The hierarchy of input is as follows: 

Level I  Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 
Level II Inputs other than quoted prices included in Level I that are observable, either directly or indirectly; and 
Level III  Inputs that are not based on observable market data. 

The carrying values of current assets and current liabilities approximate their fair value due to the relatively short period to 
maturity of these financial instruments.  The fair value of fixed rate long-term debt is assumed to approximate its carrying value 
given the limitations where Halifax Water can obtain long-term debt.   

There were no transfers between classes of the fair value hierarchy during the year. 

Halifax Water is exposed to risks as a result of holding financial instruments.  Management considers and evaluates those risks
on an on-going basis to ensure that the risks are appropriately managed.  These potential risks include credit risk, interest risk, 
market risk and liquidity risk. 

Credit risk 
Credit risk arises from the possibility that Halifax Water�s customers may experience financial difficulty and be unable to fulfill 
their obligations. Halifax Water�s maximum exposure to credit risk corresponds to customer charges and contractual 
receivables.  However, Halifax Water�s customers are numerous and diverse, which reduces the concentration of credit risk.   

Halifax Water makes use of a simplified approach in accounting for receivables and records the loss allowance as lifetime ECL. 
These are the expected shortfalls in contractual cash flows, considering the potential for default at any point during the life of 
the financial instrument.  In calculating, Halifax Water uses its historical experience, external indicators and forward-looking 
information to calculate the ECL for non-government balances using a provision matrix.  Halifax Water includes 75% of the 
balance of closed accounts in the allowance and 1% of active accounts.  Halifax Water assesses impairment of receivables on 
a collective basis.  As receivables possess shared credit risk characteristics, receivables have been grouped based on the days
past due. 
  

during the fiscal year.  Halifax Water is not subject to finaduring the fiscal year.  Halifax Water is not subject to fina

osing fair value of financial instruments, based on whether theosing fair value of financial instruments, based on whether the
ques are observable or unobservable.  Obques are observable or unobservable.  Observable techniques reflect market data 

obtained from independent sources, while unobservable inputsobtained from independent sources, while unobservable inputs reflect management assumptions.  Changes in valuation  reflect management assumptions.  Changes in valuation 
techniques of financial instruments may result in transfers of assigned levels.  The hierarchy of input is as follows: techniques of financial instruments may result in transfers of assigned levels.  The hierarchy of input is as follows: 

s for identical assets or liabilities; s for identical assets or liabilities; 
Level II Inputs other than quoted prices included in Level I thLevel II Inputs other than quoted prices included in Level I that are observable, either directly or indirectly; and 
Level III  Inputs that are not based on observable market data. Level III  Inputs that are not based on observable market data. 

The carrying values of current assets and current liabilities apprThe carrying values of current assets and current liabilities appr
maturity of these financial instruments.  The fair value of fimaturity of these financial instruments.  The fair value of fixed rate long-term debt is assumed to approximate its carrying va
given the limitations where Halifax Water can obtain long-term debt.   given the limitations where Halifax Water can obtain long-term debt.   

There were no transfers between classes of the fair value hierarchy during the year. There were no transfers between classes of the fair value hierarchy during the year. 

Halifax Water is exposed to risks as a resuHalifax Water is exposed to risks as a result of holding financial instlt of holding financial inst
risks are appropriately managed.  These potrisks are appropriately managed.  These pot
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8. Financial instruments and risk management (continued) 

An analysis of Halifax Water�s receivables and continuity of Halifax Water�s provision for impairment losses on receivables is 
as follows: 

2025 2024 

 Customer charges, contractual, and unbilled service revenues $  46,447  $ 45,521 
 Less: allowance for doubtful accounts   (2,577)   (3,016) 

$  43,870  $ 42,505 

The credit quality of financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired are assessed with reference to historical information 
and includes the following considerations; new customers, existing customers and payment pattern history. 

Interest risk 
Interest risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will cause fluctuations in expenses and/or cash flows 
associated with Halifax Water�s long term debt.  Halifax Water�s long term debt has been acquired with a variety of fixed rates
and has staggered maturity dates which mitigates the interest rate risk. 

Market risk 
Market risk arises from the possibility that the value of an investment will fluctuate as a result of changes in market prices.  
These changes could affect the market value of the investments in Halifax Water�s Plan and consequently the Plan�s surplus.  
The risk is mitigated by the Plan diversifying the types of investments in its portfolio. 

Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk arises from the possibility of Halifax Water not being able to meet its cash requirements in a timely and cost-
effective manner.  Halifax Water manages this risk by closely monitoring the cash on hand in comparison to upcoming cash 
commitments. 

9. Related party transactions 

The immediate parent and ultimate controlling party of Halifax Water is HRM.  

Halifax Water is obligated to make payments on debt, held in the name of HRM, associated with Wastewater and Stormwater 
assets which were transferred to Halifax Water in 2007 and subsequent years. The final payment on this debt was in 2025. 

Amounts receivable from HRM have normal credit terms. 

Halifax Water had the following related party transactions with HRM: 
2025 2024 

Revenue for provision of Water, Wastewater and Stormwater Services $  7,834  $ 7,563 
Public fire protection revenue   8,083   8,083 
Dividend/grant in lieu of taxes   (6,816)   (6,589) 
Operating expenditures   (2,996)   (2,428) 

Net revenue and expenditures $  6,105  $ 6,629 

The debt issued by Halifax Water was covered by a blanket guarantee from HRM subject to Halifax Water maintaining a debt 
service ratio of less than 35%. The debt service ratio at March 31, 2025 is 17.64% (2024 - 17.50%). 

and includes the following considerations; new customers, existing customers and payment pattern history. and includes the following considerations; new customers, existing customers and payment pattern history. 

hat changes in interest rates will cause flhat changes in interest rates will cause fluctuations in expenses and/or cash flows uctuations in expenses and/or cash flows 
s long term debt has been acquired with a variety of fixed ratess long term debt has been acquired with a variety of fixed rates

mitigates the interest rate risk. mitigates the interest rate risk. 

Market risk arises from the possibility that the value of an investment will fluctuate as a resustment will fluctuate as a resu
These changes could affect the market value of the investmentThese changes could affect the market value of the investments in Halifax Water�s Plan and consequently the Plan�s surplus.  s in Halifax Water�s Plan and consequently the Plan�s surplus.  

ng the types of investments in its portfolio. ng the types of investments in its portfolio. 

Liquidity risk arises from the possibility of Halifax Water not Liquidity risk arises from the possibility of Halifax Water not being able to meet its cash requirements in a timely and cost-being able to meet its cash requirements in a timely and cost-
effective manner.  Halifax Water manages this risk by closeleffective manner.  Halifax Water manages this risk by closely monitoring the cash on hand in comparison to upcoming cash y monitoring the cash on hand in comparison to upcoming cash 

The immediate parent and ultimate controThe immediate parent and ultimate controlling party of Halifax Water is HRM.  lling party of Halifax Water is HRM.  

Halifax Water is obligated to make payments on debt, held in Halifax Water is obligated to make payments on debt, held in 
assets which were transferred to Halifax Water in 2007 and sassets which were transferred to Halifax Water in 2007 and s



17 

Halifax Regional Water Commission 
Notes to the financial statements 
March 31, 2025 (in thousands) 

9. Related party transactions (continued) 

Compensation of key management personnel 

Members of the Board of Commissioners and Executive Management team are deemed to be key management personnel. It 
is the Board of Commissioners and Executive Management team who have the responsibility for planning, directing and 
controlling the activities of Halifax Water. 

The following is compensation expense for key management personnel: 
2025 2024 

Compensation and benefits $  1,463  $ 1,769 
Post-employment benefits   118   118 

Total compensation $  1,581  $ 1,887 

10. Intangible assets 2025 2024 

Cost 
 Balance, April 1 $ 52,928  $ 36,423 
 Additions   11,501   16,505 
 Balance, March 31    64,429   52,928 

Accumulated amortization 
 Balance, April 1   16,939  13,616 
 Amortization    4,635   3,323 
 Balance, March 31     21,574   16,939 

Net book value, March 31 $  42,855  $ 35,989 
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11. Utility plant in service

   Structures  Treatment   Distribution  Tools   
    and and network  and collection and work 
  Land  improvements   equipment  network equipment Total  

Cost 
 Balance, April 1, 2024  $ 25,771 $ 291,756 $ 299,014 $ 1,066,536 $ 46,430 $ 1,729,507
 Additions   35  23,185  16,296  62,952  9,328  111,796
 Disposals   -  -  -  -  (86)  (86)
 Balance, March 31, 2025   25,806  314,941  315,310  1,129,488  55,672  1,841,217

Accumulated depreciation 
 Balance, April 1, 2024  $ - $ 101,717 $ 140,249 $ 172,173 $ 27,857 $ 441,996 
 Depreciation   -  9,427  16,480  20,628  6,871  53,406
 Depreciation retired   -  -  -  -  (86)  (86)
 Balance, March 31, 2025   -  111,144  156,729  192,801  34,642  495,316

Net book value, March 31, 2025  $  25,806 $ 203,797 $ 158,581 $ 936,687 $ 21,030 $ 1,345,901

   Structures  Treatment   Distribution  Tools  Total 
    and and network  and collection and work (As Restated
  Land  improvements      equipment  network equipment - Note 17) 

Cost 
 Balance, April 1, 2023  $ 25,771 $ 284,830 $ 292,869 $ 1,037,049 $ 41,861 $ 1,682,380 
 Additions   -  6,926  6,390  29,487  4,569  47,372 
 Disposals   -  -  (245)  -  -  (245) 
 Balance, March 31, 2024    25,771  291,756  299,014  1,066,536  46,430  1,729,507 

Accumulated depreciation 
 Balance, April 1, 2023  $ -  $ 92,416 $ 122,306 $ 154,215 $ 21,360 $ 390,297 
 Depreciation   -  9,301  18,121  17,958   6,497  51,877 
 Depreciation retired   -  -  (178)  -  -  (178) 
 Balance, March 31, 2024   -  101,717  140,249  172,173  27,857  441,996 

Net book value, March 31, 2024  $ 25,771  $ 190,039 $ 158,765 $ 894,363 $ 18,573 $ 1,287,511 

 Balance, April 1, 2024  $ - $ 101,717 $ 140,249 $ 172,173 $ 27,857  Balance, April 1, 2024  $ - $ 101,717 $ 140,249 $ 172,173 $ 27,857 
 Depreciation   -  9,427  16,480  20,628  6,871   Depreciation   -  9,427  16,480  20,628  6,871  
 Depreciation retired   -  -  -  -  (86)   Depreciation retired   -  -  -  -  (86)  
 Balance, March 31, 2025   -  111,144  156,729  192,801  34,642  Balance, March 31, 2025   -  111,144  156,729  192,801  34,642 

Net book value, March 31, 2025  $  25,806 $ 203,797 $ 158,581 $ 936,687 $ 21,030Net book value, March 31, 2025  $  25,806 $ 203,797 $ 158,581 $ 936,687 $ 21,030

   Structures  Treatment   Distribution  Tools  Total    Structures  Treatment   Distribution  Tools  Total 
    and and network  and collection and work (As Restated    and and network  and collection and work (As Restated
  Land  improvements      equipment  network equipment - Note 17)   Land  improvements      equipment  network equipment - Note 17) 

 Balance, April 1, 2023  $ 25,771 $ 284, Balance, April 1, 2023  $ 25,771 $ 284,830 $ 292,869 $ 1,037,049 $ 41,861 $ 1,682,380 830 $ 292,869 $ 1,037,049 $ 41,861 $ 1,682,380 
 Additions   -  6,926  6,390  29,487  4,569  47,372  Additions   -  6,926  6,390  29,487  4,569  47,372 
 Disposals   -  -  (245)  -  -  (245)  Disposals   -  -  (245)  -  -  (245) 
 Balance, March 31, 2024    25,771  291, Balance, March 31, 2024    25,771  291,756  299,014  1,066,536  46,430  1,729,507 756  299,014  1,066,536  46,430  1,729,507 

 Balance, April 1, 2023  $ -  $ 92,416 $ 122,306 $ 154,215 $ 21,360 $ 390,297  Balance, April 1, 2023  $ -  $ 92,416 $ 122,306 $ 154,215 $ 21,360 $ 390,297 
 Depreciation   -  9,301  18,121  17,958   6,497  51,877  Depreciation   -  9,301  18,121  17,958   6,497  51,877 
 Depreciation retired   -  -  (178)  -  -  (178)  Depreciation retired   -  -  (178)  -  -  (178) 
 Balance, March 31, 2024   -  101,717  140,249  172,173  27,857  441,996  Balance, March 31, 2024   -  101,717  140,249  172,173  27,857  441,996 
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12. Deferred contributed capital  2025 2024

Balance, April 1 $ 947,308 $ 938,258 
 Assets contributed during the year  10,113  24,535 
 Contributions and interest  32,833  3,512 
 Amortization   (19,122)  (18,997) 
Balance, March 31 971,132  947,308 
  
Less: current portion    (19,249)   (19,260) 

$ 951,883 $ 928,048 

Deferred contributed capital is comprised of contributions received by Halifax Water for the acquisition of utility plant in service. 
Contributions for capital expenditures are amortized over the estimated useful lives of the assets.   

13. Long-term debt Interest rates 2025 2024 

Payable to Nova Scotia Department of Finance and Treasury Board 
 Water 0.565% to 5.460% $  129,794  $ 101,166 
 HHSP 2.205% to 2.561%   3,250   3,900 
 Wastewater 0.565% to 5.460%   123,961   96,634 
 Stormwater 0.565% to 5.460%   37,656   29,427 

  294,661   231,127 

Payable to Halifax Regional Municipality 
 Wastewater/Stormwater 3.041% to 5.940%   -   6,500 

  294,661   237,627 

Less: debt issue costs    (1,651)   (1,173) 
  293,010   236,454 

Less: amount payable within one year    (32,881)   (39,832) 

$  260,129  $ 196,622 

During the year Halifax Water acquired $80,000 (2024 � $39,988) in new debt with a ten year term and thirty year amortization 
period and refinanced $16,865 (2024 - $24,228) in existing debt for the remaining ten year term.  

The debentures are repayable in fixed annual principal instalments plus interest payable semi-annually. Interest expensed 
during the year was $9,294 (2024 - $7,276).  Principal instalments for the next five years are as follows: 

 2025/26 $  32,881 
 2026/27 $  21,089 
 2027/28 $  22,010 
 2028/29 $  24,010 
 2029/30 $  29,010 
 Thereafter $  165,661 

ed by Halifax Water for the acquied by Halifax Water for the acqui
lives of the assets.   lives of the assets.   

Interest ratesInterest rates 2025 

 Water 0.565% to 5.460%  Water 0.565% to 5.460% 
 HHSP 2.205% to 2.561%  HHSP 2.205% to 2.561% 
 Wastewater 0.565% to 5.460%  Wastewater 0.565% to 5.460% 
 Stormwater 0.565% to 5.460%  Stormwater 0.565% to 5.460% 

 Wastewater/Stormwater 3.041% to 5.940%  Wastewater/Stormwater 3.041% to 5.940% 

Less: debt issue costs  Less: debt issue costs  

Less: amount payable within one year  Less: amount payable within one year  

During the year Halifax Water acquired $80,000 (2024 � $39,988) in During the year Halifax Water acquired $80,000 (2024 � $39,988) in 
period and refinanced $16,865 (2024 - $24,228) in exisperiod and refinanced $16,865 (2024 - $24,228) in exis
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14. Operating expenditures by nature         2025  2024 

Salaries and benefits $  52,337  $ 47,492 
Pension   3,107   3,012 
Training and conferences   633   789 
Contract services   21,149   18,208 
Electricity   9,334   8,476 
Operating supplies   18,493   17,140 
Professional services   5,254   4,840 
Chemicals   9,549   10,747 
Depreciation on assets allocated to departments   1,846   1,546 
Depreciation and amortization   59,008   53,654 

$  180,710  $ 165,904 

15.  Comparative figures 

Certain of the comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the financial statement presentation adopted for the 
current fiscal year.  

16.  Revenue Deficiency Account 

Halifax Water is in the process of establishing an Ambient Temperature District Energy System (DES) and as such, has approval 
from the NSUARB to establish a Revenue Deficiency Account (RDA). The RDA will accumulate expenditures being made in 
relation to the DES. Once the DES is operational, RDA amounts will be recovered through the setting of rates which reflect the 
cost of providing this service together with a provision for the recovery of the amounts accumulated in the RDA over a reasonable 
period of time. There is no balance in the RDA as of March 31, 2025 as the infrastructure is not yet complete. Capital costs to
March 31, 2025 reflected in the total balance of work in progress, are $3,391 (2024 - $1,390). 

17.  Restated comparative information 

During the year, management determined that certain assets of the utility plant in service capitalized prior to 1985 were not 
being depreciated in error. This resulted in the overstatement of utility plant in service and accumulated surplus prior to March 
31, 2024. 

As a result, the following financial statement items as at March 31, 2024, have been increased (decreased) as follows: 

Previously 
            reported     Adjustments Restated  
Assets 
Utility plant in service $  1,297,942 $  (10,431) $  1,287,511 

Equity 
Accumulated Surplus $  256,130 $  (10,431) $  245,699 

nform to the financial statement presentation adopted for the nform to the financial statement presentation adopted for the 

Halifax Water is in the process of establishing an Ambient TemHalifax Water is in the process of establishing an Ambient Temperature District Energy Systemperature District Energy System
from the NSUARB to establish a Revenue Deficiency Accountfrom the NSUARB to establish a Revenue Deficiency Account (RDA). The RDA will accumulate expenditures being made in  (RDA). The RDA will accumulate expenditures being made in from the NSUARB to establish a Revenue Deficiency Accountfrom the NSUARB to establish a Revenue Deficiency Account
relation to the DES. Once the DES is operational, RDA amounts will be recovered through the setting of rates which reflect the relation to the DES. Once the DES is operational, RDA amounts will be recovered through the setting of rates which reflect the 

with a provision for the recovery of the amounts accumulated in the RDA over a reasonabwith a provision for the recovery of the amounts accumulated in the RDA over a reasonab
period of time. There is no balance in the RDA as of March 31, period of time. There is no balance in the RDA as of March 31, 2025 as the infrastructure is not yet complete. Capital costs to2025 as the infrastructure is not yet complete. Capital costs to
March 31, 2025 reflected in the total balance ofMarch 31, 2025 reflected in the total balance of work in progress, are $3,391 (2024 - $1,390).  work in progress, are $3,391 (2024 - $1,390). March 31, 2025 reflected in the total balance ofMarch 31, 2025 reflected in the total balance of

17.  Restated comparative information 17.  Restated comparative information 

During the year, management determined that certain assets of During the year, management determined that certain assets of 
being depreciated in error. This resulted in the overstatement ofbeing depreciated in error. This resulted in the overstatement of

As a result, the following financial statement items as atAs a result, the following financial statement items as at
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Halifax Regional Water Commission Schedule B 
Schedule of long term debt 
Year ended March 31, 2025 (in thousands) 

Balance Remaining 
 Interest rate Maturity 2025 2024 
Payable to NS Finance and Treasury Board 
 Water 
  Debenture 34 B 1 3.041% to 3.190% 2024 $  -  $ 7,520 
  Debenture 35 A 1 2.573% to 2.894% 2025   7,407   8,080 
  Debenture 36 A 1 2.443% to 2.925% 2026   400   600 
  Debenture 36 B 1 2.048% to 2.506% 2026   2,603   2,820
  Debenture 37 A 1   2.671% to 3.073% 2027   2,275   2,450 
  Debenture 38 A 1 2.884% to 3.300% 2028   400   500 
  Debenture 38 B 1 3.048% to 3.389% 2028   4,200   4,500 
  Debenture 39 A 1 2.205% to 2.561% 2029   8,250   8,800 
  Debenture 40 A 1 0.995% to 1.879% 2030   9,600   10,200 
  Debenture 40 B 1 0.565% to 2.376% 2031   8,500   9,000 
  Debenture 42 A 1 2.575% to 3.782% 2032   12,262   12,700 
  Debenture 42 B 1 4.177% to 4.116% 2032   4,615   4,999 
  Debenture 43 A 1 3.550% to 4.714% 2033   4,550   5,056 
  Debenture 43 B 1 4.897% to 5.460% 2033   3,335   3,706 
  Debenture 43 B 1 4.897% to 5.460% 2033   19,561   20,235 
  Debenture 44 A 1 4.438% to 4.940% 2034   6,000   - 
  Debenture 44 B 1 2.720% to 4.096% 2034   6,836   - 
  Debenture 44 B 1 2.720% to 4.096% 2034   29,000   - 

 Wastewater 
   
  Debenture 34 A 1 3.193% to 3.347% 2024   -   3,063 
  Debenture 34 B 1 3.041% to 3.190% 2024   -   4,722 
  Debenture 35 A 1 2.573% to 2.894% 2025   7,761   8,466 
  Debenture 36 B 1 2.048% to 2.506% 2026   1,088   1,178 
  Debenture 37 A 1 2.671% to 3.073% 2027   3,965   4,270 
  Debenture 38 B 1 3.048% to 3.389% 2028   4,480   4,800 
  Debenture 39 A 1 2.205% to 2.561% 2029   11,250   12,000 
  Debenture 40 A 1 0.955% to 1.879% 2030   6,940   7,480 
  Debenture 40 B 1 0.565% to 2.376% 2031   5,100   5,400 
  Debenture 42 A 1 2.575% to 3.782% 2032   13,759   15,478 
  Debenture 42 B 1 4.177% to 4.116% 2032   1,516   1,900 
  Debenture 43 A 1 3.550% to 4.714% 2033   7,587   8,430 
  Debenture 43 B 1 4.897% to 5.460% 2033   4,902   5,446 
  Debenture 43 B 1 4.897% to 5.460% 2033   13,535   14,001 
  Debenture 44 A 1 4.438% to 4.940% 2034   2,785   - 

 Debenture 44 A 1 4.438% to 4.940% 2034   6,000   - 
  Debenture 44 B 1 2.720% to 4.096% 2034   4,293   - 
  Debenture 44 B 1 2.720% to 4.096% 2034   29,000   - 

 HHSP  
  Debenture 39 A 1 2.205% to 2.561% 2029   3,250   3,900 

 Stormwater 
  Debenture 34 B 1 3.041% to 3.190% 2024   -   3,247 
  Debenture 35 A 1 2.573% to 2.894% 2025   1,776   1,938 
  Debenture 36 B 1 2.048% to 2.506% 2026   541   586 
  Debenture 37 A 1 2.671% to 3.073% 2027   260   280 
  Debenture 38 B 1 3.048% to 3.389% 2028   1,820   1,950 
  Debenture 39 A 1 2.205% to 2.561% 2029   3,000   3,200 
  Debenture 40 A 1 0.955% to 1.879% 2030   4,480   4,760 
  Debenture 40 B 1 0.565% to 2.376% 2031   3,400   3,600 
  Debenture 42 A 1 2.575% to 3.782% 2032   2,437   2,524 
  Debenture 43 A 1 3.550% to 4.714% 2033   243   270 
  Debenture 43 B 1 4.897% to 5.460% 2033   1,188   1,320 
  Debenture 43 B 1 4.897% to 5.460% 2033   5,560   5,752 
  Debenture 44 A 1 4.438% to 4.940% 2034   3,000   - 
  Debenture 44 B 1 2.720% to 4.096% 2034   2,951   - 
  Debenture 44 B 1 2.720% to 4.096% 2034   7,000   - 

  294,661   231,127 

  Debenture 44 A 1 4.438% to 4.940% 2034   Debenture 44 A 1 4.438% to 4.940% 2034 
  Debenture 44 B 1 2.720% to 4.096% 2034   Debenture 44 B 1 2.720% to 4.096% 2034 
  Debenture 44 B 1 2.720% to 4.096% 2034   Debenture 44 B 1 2.720% to 4.096% 2034 

  Debenture 34 A 1 3.193% to 3.347% 2024   Debenture 34 A 1 3.193% to 3.347% 2024 
  Debenture 34 B 1 3.041% to 3.190% 2024   Debenture 34 B 1 3.041% to 3.190% 2024 
  Debenture 35 A 1 2.573% to 2.894% 2025   Debenture 35 A 1 2.573% to 2.894% 2025 
  Debenture 36 B 1 2.048% to 2.506% 2026   Debenture 36 B 1 2.048% to 2.506% 2026 
  Debenture 37 A 1 2.671% to 3.073% 2027   Debenture 37 A 1 2.671% to 3.073% 2027 
  Debenture 38 B 1 3.048% to 3.389% 2028   Debenture 38 B 1 3.048% to 3.389% 2028 
  Debenture 39 A 1 2.205% to 2.561% 2029     Debenture 39 A 1 2.205% to 2.561% 2029   
  Debenture 40 A 1 0.955% to 1.879% 2030     Debenture 40 A 1 0.955% to 1.879% 2030   
  Debenture 40 B 1 0.565% to 2.376% 2031     Debenture 40 B 1 0.565% to 2.376% 2031   
  Debenture 42 A 1 2.575% to 3.782% 2032   Debenture 42 A 1 2.575% to 3.782% 2032 
  Debenture 42 B 1 4.177% to 4.116% 2032     Debenture 42 B 1 4.177% to 4.116% 2032   
  Debenture 43 A 1 3.550% to 4.714% 2033   Debenture 43 A 1 3.550% to 4.714% 2033 
  Debenture 43 B 1 4.897% to 5.460% 2033   Debenture 43 B 1 4.897% to 5.460% 2033 
  Debenture 43 B 1 4.897% to 5.460% 2033   Debenture 43 B 1 4.897% to 5.460% 2033 
  Debenture 44 A 1 4.438% to 4.940% 2034   Debenture 44 A 1 4.438% to 4.940% 2034 

4.438% to 4.940% 4.438% to 4.940% 
2.720% to 4.096% 2.720% to 4.096% 
2.720% to 4.096% 2.720% to 4.096% 

2.205% to 2.561% 2.205% to 2.561% 
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Halifax Regional Water Commission Schedule B 
Schedule of long term debt 
Year ended March 31, 2025 (in thousands) 

Payable to Halifax Regional Municipality 
 Wastewater/Stormwater 
  Debenture 24 B 1 5.920% to 5.940% 2024   -   5,500 
  Debenture 34 B 1 3.041% to 3.190% 2024   -   1,000 

  -   6,500 

  294,661   237,627 
 Less: debt issue costs     (1,651)   (1,173) 

  293,010   236,454 

Less: amount payable within one year    (32,881)   (39,832) 

Total long term debt   $  260,129  $ 196,622 
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Halifax Regional Water Commission  Schedule C
Schedule of earnings 
Year ended March 31, 2025 (in thousands) 

Water

 2025 2024 

Operating revenues 
 Water     $  56,116  $ 54,938 
 Public fire protection      8,083   8,083 
 Private fire protection      1,785   1,698 
 Other operating revenue  
  Bulk water stations      209   257 
  Late payment and connection fees      119   191 
  Miscellaneous      426   187 

     66,738   65,354 

Operating expenditures  
 Water supply and treatment      16,127   14,786 
 Water transmission and distribution      16,717   13,768 
 Engineering and technology services      6,541   6,003 
 Regulatory services      1,717   2,052 
 Customer services      2,283   2,380 
 Corporate services      2,062   1,588 
 Administration services      3,272   3,179 
 Depreciation and amortization      11,305   13,212 

     60,024   56,968 

Earnings from operations before financial and other 
 revenues and expenditures      6,714   8,386 

Financial and other revenues 
 Interest       232   300 
 Other       514   392 

     746   692 

Financial and other expenditures 
 Interest on long term debt      3,963   2,833 
 Repayment of long term debt      7,062   6,164 
 Amortization of debt issue costs      105   88 
 Dividend/grant in lieu of taxes      5,828   5,824 
 Other       124   129 

     17,082   15,038

Loss for the year    $  (9,622)  $ (5,960) 

Schedule C is presented in accordance with the NSRAB Handbook.

 Water supply and treatment     Water supply and treatment    
 Water transmission and distribution     Water transmission and distribution    
 Engineering and technology services     Engineering and technology services      6,541  
 Regulatory services     Regulatory services      1,717  
 Customer services     Customer services    
 Corporate services       Corporate services      
 Administration services     Administration services    
 Depreciation and amortization     Depreciation and amortization    

      

Earnings from operations before financial and other Earnings from operations before financial and other 
 revenues and expenditures     revenues and expenditures    

 Interest      Interest     
 Other      Other     

 Interest on long term debt     Interest on long term debt    
 Repayment of long term debt     Repayment of long term debt    
 Amortization of debt issue costs     Amortization of debt issue costs    
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Halifax Regional Water Commission Schedule C 
Schedule of earnings 
Year ended March 31, 2025 (in thousands) 

Wastewater 

      2025 2024 

Operating revenues 
 Wastewater    $  90,110  $ 89,512 
 Other operating revenue 
  Leachate and other contract revenue      562   551 
  Septage tipping fees      795   577 
  Over strength surcharge      169   7 
  Airplane effluent      67   94 
  Late payment and connection fees       194   309
  Miscellaneous      165   184 

     92,062   91,234 

Operating expenditures 
 Wastewater collection      15,383   14,554 
 Wastewater treatment      26,950   24,782 
 Engineering and technology services      8,505   8,281 
 Regulatory services      1,791   1,604 
 Customer services      2,022   2,062 
 Corporate services      1,783   1,373 
 Administration services      2,986   2,779 
 Depreciation and amortization      19,348   17,809

     78,768   73,244 

Earnings from operations before financial and other  
 revenues and expenditures      13,294   17,990 

Financial and other revenues 
 Interest       135   112 
 Other       97   96 

     232   208 

Financial and other expenditures 
 Interest on long term debt      4,120   3,581 
 Repayment of long term debt       11,790   13,954 
 Amortization of debt issue costs      110   110 
 Dividend/grant in lieu of taxes      808   630 
 Other       10   11 

     16,838   18,286 

Loss for the year    $  (3,312)  $ (88) 

Schedule C is presented in accordance with the NSRAB Handbook.

 Wastewater collection     Wastewater collection    
 Wastewater treatment     Wastewater treatment      26,950  
 Engineering and technology services     Engineering and technology services      8,505  
 Regulatory services     Regulatory services    
 Customer services     Customer services    
 Corporate services       Corporate services      
 Administration services     Administration services    
 Depreciation and amortization     Depreciation and amortization    

      

Earnings from operations before financial and other  Earnings from operations before financial and other  
 revenues and expenditures     revenues and expenditures    

 Interest      Interest     
 Other      Other     

 Interest on long term debt     Interest on long term debt    
 Repayment of long term debt      Repayment of long term debt     
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Halifax Regional Water Commission Schedule C 
Schedule of earnings 
Year ended March 31, 2025 (in thousands) 

Stormwater     

      2025 2024 

Operating revenues 
 Stormwater site generated service    $  8,599  $ 8,676 
 Stormwater right-of-way service      6,627   6,520 
 Other operating revenue 
  Late payment and connection fees       38   80
  Miscellaneous      159   115

     15,423   15,391

Operating expenditures 
 Stormwater collection      6,053   5,755 
 Engineering and technology services      1,818   1,769 
 Regulatory services      1,838   1,876 
 Customer services      172   189 
 Corporate services      198   153 
 Administration services      377   305 
 Depreciation and amortization      3,659   3,065

     14,115   13,112 

Earnings from operations before financial and other  
 expenditures      1,308   2,279 

Financial and other expenditures 
 Interest       253   103 
 Interest on long term debt      1,211   862 
 Repayment of long term debt      2,349   2,486 
 Amortization of debt issue costs      29   24 
 Dividend/grant in lieu of taxes      180   135 

     4,022   3,610 

Loss for the year    $  (2,714)  $ (1,331) 

Schedule C is presented in accordance with the NSRAB Handbook.

 Stormwater collection       Stormwater collection      
 Engineering and technology services     Engineering and technology services    
 Regulatory services     Regulatory services    
 Customer services     Customer services      172  
 Corporate services       Corporate services      
 Administration services     Administration services    
 Depreciation and amortization     Depreciation and amortization    

 expenditures     expenditures    

 Interest      Interest     
 Interest on long term debt     Interest on long term debt    
 Repayment of long term debt     Repayment of long term debt    
 Amortization of debt issue costs     Amortization of debt issue costs    
 Dividend/grant in lieu of taxes    Dividend/grant in lieu of taxes   

Loss for the year    Loss for the year    



 29 

Halifax Regional Water Commission Schedule D 
Schedule of earnings 
Year ended March 31, 2025 (in thousands) 

Regulated activities 

2025 2024 

Operating revenues 
 Water     $  56,116  $ 54,938 
 Wastewater      90,110   89,512 
 Stormwater      15,226   15,196 
 Public fire protection      8,083   8,083 
 Private fire protection services      1,785   1,698 
 Other operating revenue      1,479   1,330 

     172,799   170,757

Operating expenditures 
 Water supply and treatment      16,122   14,781 
 Water transmission and distribution      16,717   13,768 
 Wastewater collection      15,320   14,499 
 Stormwater collection      6,053   5,755 
 Wastewater treatment      26,065   23,888 
 Engineering and technology services      16,864   16,053 
 Regulatory services      5,346   5,532 
 Customer services      4,465   4,627 
 Corporate services      4,025   3,095 
 Administration services      6,524   6,132 
 Depreciation and amortization      34,273   34,066

     151,774   142,196 

Earnings from operations before financial and other  
 revenues and expenditures      21,025   28,561 

Financial and other revenues 
 Interest       367   412 
 Other       18   11 

     385   423 

Financial and other expenditures 
 Interest       253   103 
 Interest on long term debt      9,294   7,276 
 Repayment of long term debt      21,201   22,604 
 Amortization of debt issue costs      244   222 
 Dividend/grant in lieu of taxes      6,816   6,589 

     37,808   36,794 

Loss for the year     $  (16,398)  $ (7,810) 

Schedule D is presented in accordance with the NSRAB Handbook.

 Water supply and treatment       Water supply and treatment      
 Water transmission and distribution     Water transmission and distribution    
 Wastewater collection     Wastewater collection      15,320  
 Stormwater collection     Stormwater collection      6,053  
 Wastewater treatment     Wastewater treatment    
 Engineering and technology services     Engineering and technology services    
 Regulatory services     Regulatory services    
 Customer services     Customer services    
 Corporate services       Corporate services      
 Administration services     Administration services    
 Depreciation and amortization     Depreciation and amortization    

Earnings from operations before financial and other  Earnings from operations before financial and other  
 revenues and expenditures     revenues and expenditures    

 Interest      Interest     
 Other      Other     

 Interest      Interest     
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Halifax Regional Water Commission Schedule D 
Schedule of earnings 
Year ended March 31, 2025 (in thousands) 

Unregulated activities 

 2025 2024 

Operating revenues 
 Septage tipping fees    $  795  $ 577 
 Leachate treatment and contract revenue      562   551 
 Airplane effluent       67   94 

     1,424   1,222

Operating expenditures 
 Water supply and treatment       5   5 
 Wastewater treatment      885   894 
 Wastewater collection      63   55 
 Customer services      12   4 
 Corporate services      18   19 
 Administration services      111   131 
 Depreciation and amortization      39   20 

     1,133   1,128 

Earnings from operations before financial and other  
 revenues and expenditures      291   94 

Financial and other revenues 
 Other       593   477 

Financial and other expenditures 
 Other       134   140 

Earnings for the year    $  750  $ 431 

Schedule D is presented in accordance with the NSRAB Handbook.  

 Wastewater treatment     Wastewater treatment    
 Wastewater collection     Wastewater collection    
 Customer services     Customer services    
 Corporate services       Corporate services      
 Administration services       Administration services      
 Depreciation and amortization     Depreciation and amortization      39  

      

 revenues and expenditures     revenues and expenditures    

 Other      Other     

 Other      Other     

Earnings for the year    Earnings for the year    
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Halifax Regional Water Commission Schedule E 
Nova Scotia Utility and Review Board information  
Year ended March 31, 2025 (in thousands) 

Return on rate base 2025 2024 

Rate of return on rate base for Water Service 0.28% 0.67% 
Rate of return on rate base for Wastewater Service 3.65% 5.37% 
Rate of return on rate base for Stormwater Service 1.73% 2.98% 

Return on rate base is calculated based on earnings from operations before financial and other revenues and expenditures 
divided by the net book value of funded utility plant in service. 

Special purpose reserves 

 Regional Regional 
 Development Development 
 Charge Charge Other 

Water Wastewater Capital 2025 2024 
         Reserve         Reserve        Reserves  Total  Total 

Reserve, April 1   $ 660 $ 92,373 $ 1,071 $ 94,104 $ 91,905 

Contributions and interest    9,093  25,760  -  34,853  19,615 

Expenditures     (1,803)  (299)  -  (2,102)  (17,416) 

Reserve, March 31   $ 7,950 $ 117,834 $ 1,071 $ 126,855 $ 94,104 

Summarized consolidated operating results 2025 2024

Operating revenues $  174,223  $ 171,979 
Operating expenditures   152,907   143,324 
Earnings from operations before financial and other 
 revenues and expenditures   21,316   28,655 

Financial and other revenues   978   900 
Financial and other expenditures   37,942   36,934 

Loss for the year $  (15,648)  $ (7,379) 

Schedule E is presented in accordance with the NSRAB Handbook.

 Charge Charge Other  Charge Charge Other 
Wastewater Wastewater 

         Reserve         Reserve        Reserves         Reserve         Reserve        Reserves

  $ 660 $ 92,373 $ 1,071   $ 660 $ 92,373 $ 1,071 

   9,093  25,760  -    9,093  25,760  - 

   (1,803)  (299)  -    (1,803)  (299)  - 

Reserve, March 31   $ 7,950 $ 117,834 $ 1,071 Reserve, March 31   $ 7,950 $ 117,834 $ 1,071 

Summarized consolidated operating results 2025 Summarized consolidated operating results 2025 

Earnings from operations before financial and other Earnings from operations before financial and other 
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TO: John MacPherson, K.C., Chair and Members of the Halifax Regional Water 
Commission Board

SUBMITTED BY:

John Eisnor, MASc., P.Eng., Director, Operations

Wendy Krkosek, Ph.D., P.Eng., Director, Environment, Health and Safety

Ashley Kendell, CPHR., Director, People & Culture

APPROVED:

Kenda MacKenzie, P.Eng., CEO & General Manager

DATE: September 17, 2025

SUBJECT: Operational Performance Information Report

ORIGIN

Regular update.

This report provides a high level overview of operational performance for the utility.  The safety 
statistics results are first, followed by indicators and statistics for water and wastewater.
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SAFETY STATISTICS  Q1  April 1, 2025 to June 30, 2025 
 

Organizational Metrics Q1 
Apr 1 - Jun 30 

CBS 
Target
2025-26 

Lost Time Incident Reporting (LTIR)  running average 
(Lost Time Cases x 200,000 / Total Employee Hours Worked) YTD 

0.83 2

Total Recordable Injury Frequency (TRIF) - running average  
(Lost Time + Medical Aid + Modified Work Cases) x 200,000/Hours Worked 

1.66 3.5

Safe Driving  MVI at fault by quarter 
(Total number at fault traffic accidents per 1,000,000 km driven) 5.11 4

Workplace inspections conducted 44 Score

Safety Talks conducted  
(reported at the end of each quarter) 19% 90% 

High Potential/Near Miss 15 N/A

Employees on accommodation (new/still open) 0/9 N/A

Employees on gradual return to work 2 N/A

WCB claims (new/still open) 8/3 N/A

Work refusals 0 N/A

Incidents with written compliance orders 0 2

Employees trained or recertified before due date * 217 85%

 Courses Taken 647 N/A

 

 
* Percentage Data generated at year end due to variants in system data (ie. multiple certifications required for one employee)

 

  



ITEM #1-I
Page 3 of 9

Halifax Water Board
September 25, 2025

TRENDS FOR SAFETY STATISTICS
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Severity Scale
L = Unlikely to cause serious property damage and personal injury
M = May cause serious property damage and personal injury
H = Very likely to cause serious extensive property damage and personal injury
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AVERAGE DAILY WATER PRODUCTION 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Water Accountability 

Losses per Service Connection/Day 
(International Water Association Standard) 

Period Ending: June 2025 
 

Q1 Running Annual Real Losses: 253 L/service 
connection/day 
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  Halifax Water Board
September 25, 2025

 
REGIONAL WATER MAIN BREAK/LEAK DATA  
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COMPLIANCE SUMMARY 
 

Water Safety Plan Objectives 

2025-2026 Q1 

Objective Total 
Sites 

% Sites Achieving 
Target 

All Sites: 90th 
Percentile < 

10 µg/L 

CBSC Awarded 
Points

Disinfection 63 100% --- 20

Total Trihalomethanes  25 100% --- 20
Haloacetic Acids  25 100% --- 20
Particle Removal 5 100% --- 20
Bacteriological 63 100% --- 20
Corrosion Control 107 --- 3.57 20

Summary Total --- --- --- 120

     
   Score: 120/120
    100%

 

Number of times primary disinfection in water supply facility criteria not met: 0 

Fluoridation was reinstated at JDK WSP on December 12, 2024. Fluoridation remains off at Lake Major WSP.
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In this report each facility is assessed using monthly or quarterly averages, depending on the averaging 
period specified in its Approval to Operate.

CBOD5  

(mg/L)
TSS             

(mg/L)

NSECC 
Limit

Avg.
NSECC 
Limit

Avg.
NSECC 
Limit

Avg.
NSECC 
Limit

Avg.
NSECC 
Limit

Avg.
NSECC 
Limit

Avg.
NSECC 
Limit

Avg.
NSECC 
Limit

Avg.

Springfield 20 3 20 7 200 24 6-9 7.0

Frame 20 9 20 1 200 10 6-9 7.2

Middle Musq. 20 12 20 36 200 207 6-9 7.2

Uplands 20 6 20 12 200 2,109 6-9 6.7

Aerotech 5 2 5 1 200 10 6-9 7.2
5.7 W 
1.2 S

0.1 0.13 0.07 6.5 7.5

North Preston 10 3 10 2 200 10 6-9 6.8 3 0.2 1.5 0.7

Lockview 20 4 20 10 200 28 6.5-9 6.7 8.0 S 0.9 1.2 S 1.3

Steeves (Wellington) 20 3 20 7 200 10 6.5-9 7.0 14.4 S 0.1 1.0 S 0.2

BLT 15 5 20 21 200 25 6-9 7.0
5 W          
3 S

6
3 W         
1 S

1 0.02 * 0.10

NOTES & ACRONYMS:
CBOD5 - Carbonaceous 5-Day Biochemical Oxygen Demand  NSECC Compliant
TSS - Total Suspended Solids  NSECC Non-Compliant
* TRC - Total Residual Chlorine - an accredited lab can only measure 0.10 mg/L residual; results of <0.1 mg/L are compliant
**Acute toxicity reduction to annual granted by NSECC for BLT, reflecting WSER.
BDL - Below Detection Limit
W / S - Winter / Summer compliance limits
NSECC requires monthly averages be less than the NSECC Compliance Limit for each parameter at Dartmouth, E'n Passage, Halifax, Herring Cove, Mill Cove
NSECC requires quarterly averages be less than the NSECC Compliance Limit for each parameter at Aerotech, Lockview, Middle Musquodoboit, Frame, BLT,
    Uplands and Springfield Lake
NSECC requires annual averages be less than the NSECC Compliance Limit for each parameter at North Preston and Steeves

NON-COMPLIANCE EXPLANATIONS:
Dartmouth WWTF: Plant negatively affected by wet weather (high flow) events causing dosing challenges and unsettleable floc. One treatment train for part of
April, resulting in higher than normal flows through the treatment process.
Middle Musq. WWTF: Heavy algal growth in aeration pond due to nitrification of sludge, increased sludge amounts and high pond temp.
Uplands WWTF: Wet weather flows in April caused treatment challanges.Unknown discharge of substance into system in May caused biological growth die-off
and increased solids impacting UV disinfection.
BLT WWTF: Equipment breakdown, repairs and full shutdown issues from previous quarter continued to impact performance. Seasonal decrease in flow 
resulting in longer recovery of treatment process.
Fall River: high influent phosphorus (suspected cleaning chemicals), clog of chemical feed system, and insufficient dosage of cheimcal that treats phosphorus.

-

Wastewater Treatment Facility Quarterly Compliance Summary

April, May, and June 2025

Wastewater     
Treatment                 

Facility

E. coli    
(counts/  
100mL)

pH
Ammonia 

(mg/L)
Phosphorous      

(mg/L)
TRC        

(mg/L)

Dissolved 
Oxygen 
(mg/L)     Toxicity  

- - - -

- - - -

No t acute ly 
le tha l

-

-

- - - -

-

- - - - -

LEGEND

- - -

- - -

- - -

-
No t acute ly 

le tha l**
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NOTES & ACRONYMS:     CSO - Combined Sewer Overflow           SSO - Sanitary Sewer Overflow

There were 139 overflows in Q1 beginning on days when there was no recorded rainfall, as follows:

1. April 2: The CSOs at Skokomul St PS & CSO and Chain Rock PS & CSO occurred due to rain on the previous day.  

2. April 7: The CSOs at Skokomul St PS & CSO, Jamieson St PS & CSO, and Chain Rock PS & CSO occurred due to 
rain on the previous day. The CSOs at King St PS & CSO, Lyle St CSO, Skokomul St PS & CSO, and Old Ferry Rd 
PS & CSO were due to an area power outage. The SSOs at Herring Cove PS and Mill Cove WWTF Surge Tank 
were due to rain on the previous day.

3. April 24: The CSOs at North St CSO, Upper Water St CSO, Pier A PS & CSO and Sackville St CSO occurred due 
to work being completed as part of an authorized Temporary Bypass Authorization by ECCC.

4. April 29: The CSO at Lyle St CSO occurred due to an emergency electrical repair at Park Ave PS & CSO. The 
SSOs at the Herring Cove PS occurred due to mechanical issue with the pumps.

5. April 30: The CSOs at Upper Water St CSO, North St CSO and Pier A PS & CSO occurred due to work being 
completed within Halifax WWTF system as part of an authorized Temporary Bypass Authorization by ECCC.

6. Between May 5 and June 2 at 9am, CSOs throughout Dartmouth WWTF collections system occurred due to work 
being completed at Dartmouth WWTF as part of an authorized Temporary Bypass Authorization by ECCC.

7. June 2: The CSO at Lyle St CSO occurred due to a blockage caused by debris.

8. June 4: The CSOs at Wallace St CSO and Ferguson Rd CSO occurred due to emergency work required at Jamieson 
St PS & CSO.

9. June 25: The CSOs at Lyle St CSO and Park Ave PS & CSO occurred due to a shutdown of Park Ave PS & CSO for 
electrical work.
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Quarterly Certification 
 
 

For the period of April 1, 2025 to June 30, 2025 
 
 

We hereby certify that the Halifax Regional Water Commission is current in making all statutory 
remittances for payroll taxes, Harmonized Sales Tax and other remittances as required under the laws 
of the Government of Canada and its Provinces (the significant remittances are noted in the appendix) 
and that all significant legal claims have been disclosed. 

 

    
Kenda MacKenzie, P.Eng.  Louis de Montbrun, CPA, CA 
CEO and General Manager Director, Corporate Services/CFO 
 
 
 
 
Dated:  
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Significant statutory remittances for payroll taxes, Harmonized Sales Tax and other remittances as 
required under the laws of the Government of Canada and its Provinces for the Halifax Regional 
Water Commission. 

 
Statutory Payroll Remittances 

 Canada Revenue Agency (CRA) - Statutory employee payroll deductions and 
employer related contributions for:  

o Income Tax 
o Canada Pension Plan (CPP) 
o Employment Insurance (EI) 

 
 Workers’ Compensation Board of Nova Scotia (WCB) – Employer remittance based 

on employee payroll  
 
 

Other Payroll Remittances 
 Northern Trust - Employee payroll deductions and employer contributions to Halifax 

Water and HRM defined benefit pension plans 
 

 Industrial Alliance – employer and employee contributions to defined contribution 
pension plan  
 

 Medavie Blue Cross & SSQ – employee payroll deductions and employer related 
contributions for Health & dental, LTD, and Life benefit coverage, and payroll deductions for 
AD&D 

 
 Canadian Union of Public Employees – Employee payroll deductions of union dues 

o CUPE Local 227 
o CUPE Local 1431 

 
HST and Other Remittances 

 Canada Revenue Agency (CRA) - Harmonized Sales Tax (HST) is filed online and a 
refund issued as HST paid is greater than HST collected 

 
 Workers’ Compensation Board of Nova Scotia (WCB) – Remittance for sub-

contractors 
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Period: Apr-June 2025/2026

Vendor Vendor # Items Remitted Total remitted Exceptions

Statutory Payroll Remittances

CRA 174 Tax, CPP, EI, WCB $5,588,885.45

Other Payroll
Northern Trust 1215 HW Pension Plan 2,903,381.18$    
Northern Trust 1216 HRM Pension Plan 206,882.86$       
Manulife Financial 1171 Bedford Pension Plan 2,048.52$            

Industrial Alliance 2971 DCPP -$                      

Medavie Blue Cross 340, 3101 Health, Dental, Life, LTD 994,605.98$       
SSQ Insurance 429 AD&D 6,910.53$            

CUPE 160 Union Dues 1431 39,008.31$          
CUPE 3517 Union Dues 227 66,905.29$          

Other payroll items remitted in accordance with stated requirements:
United Way, Credit Union, Garnishments (WCB, CRA, Family Court, Sherriff's Office),
Water for People, Salvation Army, Racially Visible Caucus

HST and Other

CRA N/A HST (refunds) (2,896,184.89)$   

Receiver General 210 WCB subcontractors 156.08$               

Exceptions, errors and/or late remittances

Quarterly Remittance Certification
Appendix II
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TO: John MacPherson, Chair and Members of the Halifax Regional Water 
Commission Board

SUBMITTED BY:
Louis de Montbrun, CPA, CA Director, Corporate Services/CFO

APPROVED:

Kenda MacKenzie, P.Eng., General Manager & CEO

DATE: September 9, 2025

SUBJECT:
Report June 30, 2025

INFORMATION REPORT

ORIGIN

Plan).

BACKGROUND

At the September 4, 2025, meeting of the Halifax Water Audit and Finance Committee (the 
Committee), the attached report, Item #6
Pension Plan Financial Report June 30, 2025, was presented, reviewed, and discussed.

DISCUSSION

No additional information was requested to be brought forward to the Halifax Water Board 
meeting following the discussion of the attached at the Committee meeting.

ATTACHMENT

1. Item #6 Halifax Regional 
June 30, 2025.
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TO: Chair and Members of the Halifax Regional Water Commission Audit and 
Finance Committee

SUBMITTED BY:            
Louis de Montbrun, CPA, CA, Director, Corporate Services/CFO

APPROVED:  

Kenda MacKenzie, P.Eng., General Manager & CEO

DATE:   August 18, 2025

SUBJECT: Halifax Regional Water Commission Employees’ Pension Plan Financial 
Report – June 30, 2025

ORIGIN

Financial reporting for the Halifax Regional Water Commission Employees’ Pension Plan (the 
“Plan”).

RECOMMENDATION

It is recommended that the Audit and Finance Committee accept the financial report for the 
Halifax Regional Water Commission Employees’ Pension Plan for the six-month period ended 
June 30, 2025, and forward the report to the Halifax Water Board as the Trustee of the Plan as 
an information report.

BACKGROUND

The Audit and Finance Committee is required to review the financial results of the Plan 
throughout the year.

DISCUSSION

The attached statement of changes in net assets available for benefits (Appendix A) outlines the 
annual budget for the Plan and actual financial performance for the six-month period ending June 
30, 2025. Audited financial results for 2023 and 2024 are shown for comparative purposes.

As shown on the statement of changes in net assets available for benefits, net assets available 
for benefits have increased by $7.0 million for the six (6) month period ending June 30, 2025. The 
pro-rated budget for the period forecasted an increase of $6.9 million. Actual results for the 
period compared to the pro-rated budget result in a favourable variance of $0.1 million.
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The annual budget forecasted revenue of $14.0 million. Revenue for the period is $6.7 million 
which when compared to the pro-rated revenue budget of $7.0 million results in an unfavourable 
variance of $0.3 million. Revenue figures are directly impacted by the performance of the HRM 
Master Trust. This unfavourable variance is a result of the increase in the fair value of investment 
assets being less than the pro-rated budget for the period. Investment income for the period is 
$2.9 million compared to a pro-rated budget of $2.0 million resulting in a favourable variance of 
$0.9 million or 48%. 

Contributions of $4.6 million are above the pro-rated budget of $4.1 million by $0.5 million. This 
results in a favourable variance of 13% and is partly due to negotiated union increases paid in 
January 2025 but budgeted in 2024 and increased salaries resulting from a market review that 
was conducted early in 2025.  
 
Expenses of $4.3 million for the period are higher than the pro-rated budget of $4.2 million by 
$0.1 million or 2%. The main contributor to this variance is termination payouts which are higher 
than the pro-rated budget in the period. Termination payments do vary from quarter to quarter 
and are difficult to predict. 
 
SERVICE STANDARDS 

Tracking of Regulatory Filing Requirements, Administrative Reporting Requirements and Service 
Standards for actuarial calculation requests is ongoing. The reports for Regulatory Filing 
Requirements and Administrative Reporting Requirements are attached as Appendix B and 
Appendix C respectively, and document administrative compliance within the various levels of 
reporting for the period.  

Service Standard results for the Second Quarter (April 1 – June 30, 2025) have been attached as 
Appendix D. The primary purpose of the service standard report is to report on the administrative 
compliance with the Pension Benefits Act of Nova Scotia (the “Act”) respecting the timing of 
statements or notifications required under the Act, such as: 
 

 Retirement statement to member; 
 Notification of options to retiring member; 
 Death benefits statement; and 
 Statement on termination. 

 
A secondary purpose of the report is to provide performance reporting respecting the Plan’s 
actuaries, for required deliverables based on pre-determined standards. These standards are 
internal in nature and mutually agreed upon by the actuary and Halifax Water. 

Second Quarter results reported in Appendix D shows that for the 1 request submitted for 
retirement estimates (with options), the retirement package was provided to the member within 
the prescribed timelines under the Act, 60 days prior to the Member’s intended retirement date. 
There were 11 termination calculations completed during the period, with the terminated 
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employee provided a termination package (with options) within the prescribed timelines under 
the Act, within 60 days after their termination date. 
 
Performance of the actuary, also reported in Appendix D, shows out of 12 requests in total, the 
actuary met the pre-determined standard in all instances, with average response times for 
retirement and termination calculation estimates of 7 days and 9 days respectively. The response 
time of the actuaries is continuously monitored to ensure required service standards are 
maintained. Halifax Water will be informed in advance of potential upcoming delays in response 
times.
 
ATTACHMENTS

APPENDIX A – Financial Report:
Statement of changes in net assets available for benefits, for the six (6) month 
period ended June 30, 2025 

APPENDIX B – Regulatory Filing Requirements – Q2 2025 

APPENDIX C – Administrative Reporting Requirements – Q2 2025 
 
APPENDIX D – Service Standards Report – Q2 2025 
 

 
 

Report Prepared by: 
 Heather Britten, Quality Assurance Officer  
 (782) 641-1431
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TO: John M. MacPherson, K.C., Chair and Members of the Halifax Regional Water 

Pension Plan

SUBMITTED BY: _____________________________________________________________________
Heather Britten, Chair, Pension and Benefits Advisory Committee

APPROVED: _____________________________________________________________________
Louis de Montbrun, CPA, CA, Director of Corporate Services/CFO

DATE: July 17, 2025

SUBJECT: 2024 Annual Report - Pension and Benefits Advisory Committee

ORIGIN

Halifax Regional 
Water Commission Board of Commissioners
Reference of the Committee.

RECOMMENDATION

None

BACKGROUND

As defined in the Terms of Reference of the Committee, its objectives and responsibilities include:

Monitor the administration of the Pension and B
conducted in a manner consistent with the provisions of the official Pension Plan documents, group 
insurance and other benefit plan documents, and governing legislation

Make recommendations to the Administrator respecting the administration of the Plans

Promote awareness and understanding of the Plans on the part of members, and persons receiving pension 
or other benefits under the Plans
Assist with the monitoring of the Plan s activities, and provide input in this regard, through review of audited 
financial statements, actuarial valuations, key contracts and agreements, reports on investment 
performance and other performance metrics 

Review annual communication plans to all stakeholders, which will include a plan for:

Annual pension statements

Newsletters and articles in the Pipeline Post

Annual general meeting for pension plan members, and
Educational sessions for pre-retirement.

The purpose of this report is to provide a summary 4.
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DISCUSSIONS 

The Committee met as follows during 2024: 

 March 20, 2024  1:00 PM 
 May 15, 2024  1:00 PM 
 November 18, 2024 2:00 PM 

All meetings were held virtually via Microsoft® Teams.  
 
Table 1 below provides a summary of attendance at Committee meetings held during 2024.  
 
Table 1 

 Meeting Dates: March 20 May 15 November 18
Representatives:  

Heather Britten, Chair Non-Union      

 Local 227 - -  

Gary McPherson Local 1431      

Paul Taylor Local 1431     - 
Anna McCarron Local 1431      

Louis de Montbrun Management      

Alicia Scallion Management - - n/a 
Fabio Alonso Management n/a n/a  

Karen Kearney Non-Union -   n/a 
Cheryl Little Pensioners      

Alternates:  
Stephen Kerr Local 227 - -  

Susan Dwyer Local 1431   - - 
Justin Cull Local 1431 n/a n/a - 
Blaine Rooney Pensioners      

Joel Haley Non-Union      

Observers: 
Cindy MacLean Supervisor, P&C      

Administration Support: 
Lorna Skinner  n/a n/a  

Amanda Jodrey    n/a n/a 

Ellen Wilcox  -   n/a 

Guest: 
Jasmine Tse (Mercer)      - 
Michael Horne (Mercer)  -   - 

 
Legend:   » Present 

 - » Absent 
 n/a » Not a member of the Committee/ not in that position, at that time. 



ITEM #4-I
  Halifax Water Board

September 25, 2025
 

Page 3 of 3
 

 
Report Prepared by: Anna McCarron and Nicole Jollymore 

 Members of the Halifax Water Pension & Benefits Advisory Committee

Key issues the Committee addressed or discussed during the year included: 

 Life, Dependent Life and Long-term Disability (LTD) insurance renewals. 
 Benefit renewals for Health and Dental 
 Virtual Health options 
 Subcommittee struck to assess training and education options 
 Embarked on review of the Committee Terms of Reference - required every 3 years 
 Update pension and benefits information on Halifax Water Intranet site 
 Discussed and reviewed proposed enhancements to health benefits including: 

 Short Term Disability 
 Increase dental coverage for preventative care and major restorative care 
 Additional optional life, dependent life, and critical illness insurances 
 Diabetic pump supplies 
 Laser eye and cataract surgery and care 
 Increased massage coverage 
 Vaccination coverage  Shingrix 
 Research telecare service versus private plan service structure 

 
Main accomplishments of the Committee for the year were: 

1. Through Mercer, Halifax Water was able to successfully negotiate benefit renewals for health and dental, 
with increases of 2.0% and 5.0% respectively. The renewals became effective June 1, 2024. 

2. Through Mercer, Halifax Water was able to successfully negotiate Life, Dependent Life and LTD insurance 
renewals. Basic Life and Dependent Life rates decreased by 6.9%. LTD rates decreased by 10.5%. These rates 
became effective April 1, 2024. 

3. The review of various pension and benefit communication initiatives during the year prepared by Halifax 
Water staff such as the annual Pension Plan budget, and the Pension Plan financial reports that go to the 
Administrator quarterly. The purpose of these initiatives was to provide members: 

i. Updated information regarding the financial health of the Pension Plan. 
ii. Overview of the Pension Plan. 

iii. An Actuarial Valuation is required by January 1, 2025. 
iv. Overview of health, dental and other benefits accessible to members. 

 
SUBSEQUENT EVENTS AND FUTURE INITIATIVES 

 Review and provide recommendations as required relating to benefit plan enhancements 
 Continuing education for Committee members, including guest speakers at scheduled meetings

 
FORMAL MOTIONS TO THE ADMINISTRATOR 

There were no formal motions made to the Administrator during 2024. 
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